
Unisys Corporation
2012 Annual Report



2012 Annual Report to Shareholders
To Our Shareholders:

I am pleased to report that in 2012 we completed our fourth consecutive year of profitability and

positive free cash flow generation. Despite an uncertain economic environment, we have made Unisys

a more profitable and competitive company.

We reported 2012 net income of $129.4 million, or $2.84 per diluted share, which included

$105.4 million of pension expense and $30.6 million of debt reduction charges. These results

compare to 2011 net income of $120.5 million, or $2.71 per diluted share, which included

$28.0 million of pension expense, $85.2 million of debt reduction charges and an $8.9 million charge

related to the settlement of a Brazilian non-income tax matter. Excluding these items, our non-GAAP

earnings per share(1) for 2012 rose to $5.50 from $5.18 in 2011.

Our revenue in 2012 declined 4 percent (1 percent on a constant currency basis) primarily reflecting weakness in our U.S.

Federal government business, where market conditions remained challenging. Outside of our U.S. Federal business, we grew

revenue when measured at constant currency rates.

Our services revenue declined 5 percent (2 percent in constant currency) in 2012. Our technology business, however, had a

strong year in 2012, growing revenue 3 percent (6 percent in constant currency) with the benefit of some earlier-than-

expected fourth quarter sales of ClearPath software and servers as customers responded favorably to our technology

announcements and innovations.

Progress Against Three-Year Financial Goals

In October 2010, we set four financial goals to be achieved by year-end 2013. Two of the four goals were achieved in 2012.

• Our three-year goal was to increase our pretax profit to $350 million in 2013, excluding pension income or expense. In

2012, we generated pretax profit above this goal level;

• In 2012, we reached our goal to reduce our debt by 75 percent from September 2010 levels more than a year ahead of

plan. Since 2008, we have reduced debt by about $1 billion. This is a major milestone for Unisys, one that has

significantly reduced our interest expense and strengthened our financial profile.

Our progress in 2012 against our other two financial goals was mixed. These 2013 goals are:

• To consistently achieve an 8 to 10 percent operating profit margin in our services business;

• To grow our IT outsourcing and systems integration revenue at market rates while maintaining stable revenue in our

technology business, particularly within our flagship ClearPath business.

In our services business, we are not yet performing at our targeted 8 to 10 percent operating profit margin goal. To meet

this target on a consistent basis, we must drive profitable revenue growth while continuing to identify ways to deliver

services more efficiently.

Against our revenue goals, in 2012 we exceeded our goal of maintaining flat revenue in our technology business, driven by

higher ClearPath sales. This was the third consecutive year that we have maintained or grown ClearPath revenue.

However, in our systems integration and IT outsourcing businesses, we did not meet our goal of growing these businesses

at market rates in 2012 as the weakness in our U.S. Federal business significantly impacted our progress. While we have

more work to do to fully capitalize on our strengthened solution portfolio, our client satisfaction ratings and service quality

continue to improve and we are winning contracts with new and existing clients such as the American Red Cross, Nutreco,

Royal DSM, TravelSky, the Internal Revenue Service, the U.S. National Archives, and the Department of Energy.
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Investments to Drive Profitable Revenue Growth

We continue to position Unisys as a provider of mission-critical solutions and services. Our goal remains to become a

company known for its financial strength, where the quality of our services and solutions provides ongoing differentiation and

where we are an acknowledged industry leader in our four areas of strength – security; data center transformation and

outsourcing (including our server business); end user outsourcing and support services; and application modernization and

outsourcing.

In recent years, we have narrowed our focus to concentrate more effectively on select target markets. We exited several

businesses and changed our business model in certain countries. In 2013 and beyond, we plan to build on our current

geographic and business footprint. To do so, we are developing enhanced and new solutions and are building new sales

channels in order to win new customers. To drive growth, we are making investments to enhance our current solutions to

take greater advantage of disruptive industry trends such as cloud, consumerization of IT and mobility, cybersecurity, big

data, smart computing, social computing, and IT appliances.

In our technology business, we have evolved our ClearPath family of enterprise software and servers to a more open

architecture based on industry-standard Intel technology. We believe this work has put Unisys ahead of the industry in

delivering modern, open, Intel-based servers that deliver mainframe-class performance, security, and reliability. In 2013 we

are planning additional product innovations and enhancements that will allow us to meet evolving client needs and address

new mission-critical markets.

We are also targeting new markets for our advanced software solutions, such as our Stealth Solution Suite of cybersecurity

products. We believe the Stealth Solution Suite is unique in the market in its ability to cloak data, applications, and users

within a network or data center, and we see growth opportunities in helping organizations deal with increasingly

sophisticated cyber threats.

To complement and expand our data center and end user outsourcing services, we are investing in application managed

services, where we see the opportunity to help organizations deal with the challenges of managing their applications in an

increasingly decentralized, mobile and cloud-based computing environment.

Finally, we are building a reseller channel to reach new customers and markets for our software solutions. Currently, less

than 5 percent of Unisys revenue comes through resellers and distributors, which is low relative to many of our competitors.

Starting with our Stealth Solution Suite, we believe establishing a strong reseller channel will allow us to address a larger

portion of the IT market.

Focused on Achieving Our Long-Term Vision for Unisys

In closing, 2012 was another year of significant profitability and free cash flow generation for Unisys. Building on this

progress, as well as our much stronger financial condition and improved customer satisfaction, we are focused on driving

profitable revenue growth.

These are times of great change in the IT industry, brought about by the forces of new disruptive technologies that are

changing the way organizations procure, deliver, and apply IT services.

Because of the work we’ve done, we believe Unisys is positioned to benefit from these changes. I look forward to reporting

on our continued progress in the year ahead.

Regards,

J. Edward Coleman

1 See “Reconciliation of Selected GAAP to Non-GAAP Measures” elsewhere in this report.
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Business Description
General

Unisys Corporation is a worldwide information technology (“IT”) company. We provide a portfolio of IT services, software, and

technology that solves mission-critical problems for clients. We specialize in helping clients secure their operations, increase

the efficiency and utilization of their data centers, enhance support to their end users and constituents, and modernize their

enterprise applications. To provide these services and solutions, the company brings together offerings and capabilities in

outsourcing services, systems integration and consulting services, infrastructure services, maintenance services, and high-

end server technology. Unisys serves commercial organizations and government agencies throughout the world.

Principal Products and Services

Unisys brings together services and technology into solutions that solve mission-critical problems for organizations around

the world.

In the Services segment, we provide services to help our clients improve their competitiveness, security and cost efficiency.

Our services include outsourcing, systems integration and consulting, infrastructure services and core maintenance.

• In outsourcing, we manage customers’ data centers, computer servers and end-user computing environments as well as

specific business processes.

• In systems integration and consulting, we consult with clients to assess the security and cost effectiveness of their IT

systems and help them design, integrate and modernize their mission-critical applications to achieve their business

goals.

• In infrastructure services, we provide design, warranty and support services for our customers’ IT infrastructure,

including their networks, desktops, servers, and mobile and wireless devices.

• In core maintenance, we provide maintenance of Unisys systems and products.

In the Technology segment, we design and develop servers and related products to help clients reduce costs and improve

the efficiency of their data center environments. As a pioneer in large-scale computing, Unisys offers deep experience and

rich technological capabilities in transaction-intensive, mission-critical environments. We provide a range of data center,

infrastructure management and cloud computing offerings to help clients virtualize and automate their data-center

environments. Product offerings include enterprise-class servers, such as the ClearPath family of servers and the ES7000

family of Intel based servers, as well as operating system software and middleware.

Unisys focuses its resources and investments in four targeted market areas: security; data center transformation, including

our server business; end user outsourcing; and applications modernization.

The primary vertical markets Unisys serves worldwide include the public sector (including the U.S. federal government),

financial services and other commercial markets including communications and transportation.

We market our products and services primarily through a direct sales force. In certain foreign countries, we market primarily

through distributors. Complementing our direct sales force, we make use of a select group of resellers and alliance partners

to market and complement our services and product portfolio.
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Unisys Corporation
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations

Overview

In 2012, the company continued to implement its ongoing program to tighten its strategic focus, strengthen its solutions

portfolio, increase the cost efficiency of services operations, and reduce debt and interest expense.

The company’s financial results in 2012 were impacted by charges related to debt-reduction actions taken during the year

as well as an increase in pension expense. Also impacting the company’s 2012 results was a $128.6 million, or 20%,

revenue decline in the company’s U.S. Federal government business, reflecting ongoing challenges in that market.

The company reported 2012 net income from continuing operations attributable to common shareholders of $129.4 million,

or $2.84 per diluted share. The results included pretax debt-reduction charges of $30.6 million, $108.2 million in pretax

pension expense and $8.1 million of pretax foreign exchange losses. In 2011, the company reported net income from

continuing operations of $120.5 million, or $2.71 per diluted share, which included $85.2 million of pretax debt-reduction

charges, $34.3 million of pretax pension expense and pretax foreign exchange gains of $17.2 million.

Revenue for 2012 declined 4% to $3.71 billion compared with $3.85 billion in 2011. The decline in the U.S. Federal

government business contributed approximately 3 percentage points to the rate of decline in revenue in 2012.

During 2012, the company retired an aggregate principal amount of $362.3 million of its long-term debt which was funded by

the net proceeds of the issuance in August 21, 2012 of $210.0 million of 6.25% senior notes due 2017 and cash on hand.

During 2011, the company retired an aggregate principal amount of $477.9 million of long-term debt which was funded by

net proceeds of $249.7 million from the sale of mandatory convertible preferred stock (see Note 17 of the Notes to

Consolidated Financial Statements) and cash on hand. Year-end 2012 debt was $210.3 million and cash was $655.6

million.

Results of operations

Company results

Revenue for 2012 was $3.71 billion compared with 2011 revenue of $3.85 billion, a decrease of 4%. Foreign currency had a

3-percentage-point negative impact on revenue in 2012 compared with 2011. The decline in revenue from the company’s

U.S. Federal business contributed approximately 3 percentage points to the rate of decline in revenue in 2012.

Services revenue in 2012 decreased by 5%. The decline in revenue from the company’s U.S. Federal business contributed

approximately 2 percentage points to the rate of decline in services revenue in 2012. Technology revenue in 2012 increased

by 3% compared with 2011.

Revenue for 2011 was $3.85 billion compared with 2010 revenue of $4.02 billion, a decrease of 4%. Foreign currency had a

3-percentage-point positive impact on revenue in 2011 compared with 2010. The decline in revenue from the company’s

U.S. Federal business contributed approximately 5 percentage points to the rate of decline in revenue in 2011.

Revenue from international operations in 2012, 2011 and 2010 was $2.25 billion, $2.27 billion and $2.29 billion,

respectively. Foreign currency had a 5-percentage-point negative impact on international revenue in 2012 compared with

2011, and a 6-percentage-point positive impact on international revenue in 2011 compared with 2010. Revenue from U.S.

operations was $1.46 billion in 2012, $1.58 billion in 2011 and $1.73 billion in 2010. In 2012 and 2011, the company’s

U.S. revenue declined 8% and 9%, respectively. The $129 million, or 20%, and the $191 million, or 23%, decline in revenue

from the company’s U.S. Federal business contributed approximately 9 and 13 percentage points to the rate of decline in

U.S. revenue in 2012 and 2011, respectively.
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Gross profit percent was 26.3% in 2012, 25.6% in 2011 and 26.7% in 2010. The increase in gross profit percent in 2012

compared with 2011 principally reflects a stronger mix of high-end enterprise server sales. The decrease in gross profit

percent in 2011 compared with 2010 principally reflects lower revenue and margin in the company’s U.S. Federal business.

Selling, general and administrative expenses were $572.8 million in 2012 (15.5% of revenue), $586.3 million in 2011

(15.2% of revenue) and $617.1 million in 2010 (15.4% of revenue). The current year includes $14.4 million higher pension

expense when compared with 2011, as well as a gain of $10.6 million related to the sale of a subsidiary which has been

recorded as a reduction of selling, general and administrative expense (see Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial

Statements). The decline in selling, general and administrative expenses in 2011 compared with 2010 reflects the

company’s continued focus on cost reduction.

Research and development (R&D) expenses in 2012 were $81.5 million compared with $76.1 million in 2011 and

$78.9 million in 2010. The increase in 2012 compared with 2011 was due to higher pension expense reported as a

component of R&D.

In 2012, the company reported an operating profit of $319.2 million compared with $324.6 million in 2011 and

$375.7 million in 2010.

Pension expense for 2012 was $108.2 million compared with pension expense of $34.3 million in 2011 and pension

income of $2.9 million in 2010. For 2013, the company expects to recognize pension expense of approximately

$93.1 million. The company records pension income or expense, as well as other employee-related costs such as payroll

taxes and medical insurance costs, in operating income in the following income statement categories: cost of revenue;

selling, general and administrative expenses; and research and development expenses. The amount allocated to each

category is based on where the salaries of active employees are charged.

Effective January 1, 2011, the company reinstated a company match to its U.S. 401(k) Savings Plan, which had been

suspended effective January 1, 2009. The company matches 50 percent of the first 6 percent of eligible pay contributed by

participants to the plan on a before-tax basis (subject to IRS limits). The charge to income related to the company match for

the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 was $12.1 million, $12.5 million and zero, respectively.

During 2011, the company recorded a charge of $13.5 million ($6.4 million in cost of revenue and $7.1 million in other

income/expense) related to the loss of an old non-income tax case concerning the company’s former Brazilian manufacturing

operations. During 2011, the company also recorded $14.3 million of income in other income/expense related to a favorable

resolution of a Brazilian non-income tax case concerning tax on other income.

Interest expense was $27.5 million in 2012, $63.1 million in 2011 and $101.8 million in 2010. The decline in all years

reflects the debt reductions discussed herein. Based on the company’s current outstanding debt, interest expense in 2013

is expected to be approximately $10 million.

Other income (expense), net was expense of $37.6 million in 2012, compared with expense of $55.5 million in 2011 and

expense of $51.0 million in 2010. Included in 2012 were charges of $30.6 million related to the debt reductions discussed

herein and foreign exchange losses of $8.1 million offset in part by interest income of $10.3 million. Included in 2011 were

charges of $85.2 million related to the debt redemptions discussed herein offset in part by income of $7.2 million related to

the Brazilian matters discussed above, foreign exchange gains of $17.2 million and interest income of $15.4 million.

Included in 2010 were foreign exchange losses of $43.4 million (including $19.9 million related to the Venezuelan

devaluation, discussed below) and interest income of $8.3 million.

Income from continuing operations before income taxes in 2012 was $254.1 million compared with income of

$206.0 million in 2011 and income of $222.9 million in 2010.
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The provision for income taxes in 2012, 2011 and 2010 was $97.3 million, $64.8 million and $58.8 million, respectively.

The 2012 income tax provision includes $9.2 million due to a reduction in the UK income tax rate (see Note 7 of the Notes

to Consolidated Financial Statements), as well as a $5.6 million benefit related to a UK tax credit. The 2011 and 2010

income tax provisions include benefits due to changes in judgment about the company’s ability to realize deferred tax assets

in future years resulting in a net decrease in valuation allowances of $15.2 million and $13.2 million, respectively. The 2011

income tax provision includes a benefit of $28.3 million related to the settlement of two European tax matters, as well as a

provision of $8.4 million due to a reduction in the UK income tax rate.

The company evaluates quarterly the realizability of its deferred tax assets by assessing its valuation allowance and by

adjusting the amount of such allowance, if necessary. The company will record a tax provision or benefit for those

international subsidiaries that do not have a full valuation allowance against their deferred tax assets. Any profit or loss

recorded for the company’s U.S. continuing operations will have no provision or benefit associated with it due to its full

valuation allowance, except with respect to benefits related to income from discontinued operations, refundable tax credits

and withholding taxes not creditable against future taxable income. As a result, the company’s provision or benefit for taxes

will vary significantly period to period depending on the geographic distribution of income.

The realization of the company’s net deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2012 is primarily dependent on forecasted

future taxable income within certain foreign jurisdictions. Any reduction in estimated forecasted future taxable income may

require the company to record an additional valuation allowance against the remaining deferred tax assets. Any increase or

decrease in the valuation allowance would result in additional or lower income tax expense in such period and could have a

significant impact on that period’s earnings.

Net income from continuing operations attributable to Unisys Corporation for 2012 was income of $129.4 million, or

$2.84 per diluted common share, compared with income of $120.5 million, or $2.71 per diluted common share, in 2011

and income of $158.9 million, or income of $3.67 per diluted common share, in 2010.

In 2010, the company sold its health information management (HIM) and its Unisys Insurance Services Limited (UISL)

businesses and reported these businesses as discontinued operations. Income from discontinued operations for 2010 was

$77.2 million, or $1.78 per diluted common share. See Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Due to recent year’s inflation rates, the company’s Venezuelan subsidiary has applied highly inflationary accounting

beginning January 1, 2010. For those international subsidiaries operating in highly inflationary economies, the U.S. dollar is

the functional currency, and as such, nonmonetary assets and liabilities are translated at historical exchange rates, and

monetary assets and liabilities are translated at current exchange rates. Exchange gains and losses arising from translation

are included in other income (expense), net. Effective January 11, 2010, the Venezuelan government devalued the Bolivar

Fuerte by 50 percent by resetting the official exchange rate from 2.15 to the U.S. dollar to 4.30 to the U.S. dollar. As a

result, the company recorded a foreign exchange loss in the first quarter of 2010 of approximately $20 million. The company

has used and continues to use the official exchange rate for translation purposes. At December 31, 2012, the company’s

operations in Venezuela had net monetary assets denominated in local currency of approximately $20 million. Effective

February 13, 2013, the Venezuelan government devalued its currency (Bolivar Fuerte) by resetting the official exchange rate

from 4.30 to the U.S. dollar to 6.30 to the U.S. dollar. As a result, the company expects to record a pretax foreign exchange

loss in the first quarter of 2013 of approximately $7 million.

Segment results

The company has two business segments: Services and Technology. The products and services of each segment are

marketed throughout the world to commercial businesses and governments. Revenue classifications by segment are as

follows: Services – systems integration and consulting, outsourcing, infrastructure services and core maintenance;

Technology – enterprise-class software and servers and other technology.
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The accounting policies of each business segment are the same as those described in the summary of significant

accounting policies. Intersegment sales and transfers are priced as if the sales or transfers were to third parties.

Accordingly, the Technology segment recognizes intersegment revenue and manufacturing profit on hardware and software

shipments to customers under Services contracts. The Services segment, in turn, recognizes customer revenue and

marketing profit on such shipments of company hardware and software to customers. The Services segment also includes

hardware and software products sourced from third parties that are sold to customers through the company’s Services

channels. In the company’s consolidated statements of income, the manufacturing costs of products sourced from the

Technology segment and sold to Services customers are reported in cost of revenue for Services.

Also included in the Technology segment’s sales and operating profit are sales of hardware and software sold to the

Services segment for internal use in Services engagements. The amount of such profit included in operating income of the

Technology segment for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, was $11.5 million, $8.2 million and

$7.2 million, respectively. The profit on these transactions is eliminated in Corporate.

The company evaluates business segment performance on operating income exclusive of pension income or expense,

restructuring charges and unusual and nonrecurring items, which are included in Corporate. All other corporate and centrally

incurred costs are allocated to the business segments based principally on revenue, employees, square footage or usage.

See Note 15 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Information by business segment for 2012, 2011 and 2010 is presented below:

(millions of dollars) Total Eliminations Services Technology

2012

Customer revenue $3,706.4 $3,192.4 $514.0

Intersegment $(123.1) 3.8 119.3

Total revenue $3,706.4 $(123.1) $3,196.2 $633.3

Gross profit percent 26.3% 20.0% 63.9%

Operating income percent 8.6% 6.4% 33.1%

2011

Customer revenue $3,853.8 $3,354.6 $499.2

Intersegment $(102.6) 6.3 96.3

Total revenue $3,853.8 $(102.6) $3,360.9 $595.5

Gross profit percent 25.6% 20.0% 56.9%

Operating income percent 8.4% 6.9% 21.5%

2010

Customer revenue $4,019.6 $3,457.4 $562.2

Intersegment $(116.6) 5.9 110.7

Total revenue $4,019.6 $(116.6) $3,463.3 $672.9

Gross profit percent 26.7% 20.1% 55.0%

Operating income percent 9.3% 6.7% 21.1%

Gross profit percent and operating income percent are as a percent of total revenue.

Customer revenue by classes of similar products or services, by segment, for 2012, 2011 and 2010 is presented below:

Year ended December 31 (millions) 2012 2011
Percent
Change 2010

Percent
Change

Services

Systems integration and consulting $1,079.3 $1,164.7 (7.3)% $1,223.1 (4.8)%

Outsourcing 1,475.5 1,487.2 (.8)% 1,531.3 (2.9)%

Infrastructure services 442.4 487.0 (9.2)% 472.4 3.1%

Core maintenance 195.2 215.7 (9.5)% 230.6 (6.5)%

3,192.4 3,354.6 (4.8)% 3,457.4 (3.0)%

Technology

Enterprise-class software and
servers 480.3 443.9 8.2% 462.5 (4.0)%

Other technology 33.7 55.3 (39.1)% 99.7 (44.5)%

514.0 499.2 3.0% 562.2 (11.2)%

Total $3,706.4 $3,853.8 (3.8)% $4,019.6 (4.1)%

In the Services segment, customer revenue was $3.19 billion in 2012, $3.35 billion in 2011 and $3.46 billion in 2010. The

decline in revenue from the company’s U.S. Federal business contributed approximately 2 and 6 percentage points to the

rate of decline in services revenue in 2012 and 2011, respectively. Foreign currency had about a 3-percentage-point negative

impact on Services revenue in 2012 compared with 2011, and a 3-percentage-point positive impact in 2011 compared with

2010.
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Revenue from systems integration and consulting decreased 7.3% in 2012 compared with 2011, and 2011 revenue

declined 4.8% compared with 2010. The decline in revenue from the company’s U.S. Federal business contributed

approximately 6 and 5 percentage points to the rate of decline in systems integration and consulting revenue in 2012 and

2011, respectively.

Outsourcing revenue declined .8% in 2012 compared with 2011. In 2011 outsourcing revenue declined 2.9% compared with

2010 as the loss of $117 million in TSA revenue in the company’s U.S. Federal business, which was all included in

information technology outsourcing (ITO) revenue, more than offset growth in other ITO outsourcing revenue. The decline in

revenue from the company’s U.S. Federal business contributed approximately zero and 9 percentage points to the rate of

decline in outsourcing revenue in 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Infrastructure services revenue decreased 9.2% in 2012 compared with 2011 and increased 3.1% in 2011 compared with

2010.

Core maintenance revenue declined 9.5% in 2012 compared with 2011. Core maintenance revenue declined 6.5% in 2011

compared with 2010.

Services gross profit percent was 20.0% in 2012, 20.0% in 2011 and 20.1% in 2010. Services operating income percent

was 6.4% in 2012 compared with 6.9% in 2011 and 6.7% in 2010.

In the Technology segment, customer revenue was $514.0 million in 2012, $499.2 million in 2011 and $562.2 million in

2010. Foreign currency translation had about a 3-percentage-point negative impact on Technology revenue in 2012

compared with 2011, and a 2-percentage-point positive impact in 2011 compared with 2010.

Revenue from the company’s enterprise-class software and servers increased 8.2% in 2012 compared with 2011 and

decreased 4.0% in 2011 compared with 2010. The company’s ClearPath revenue increased in 2012 compared with 2011

and was essentially flat in 2011 compared with 2010.

Revenue from other technology decreased 39.1% in 2012 compared with 2011 and decreased 44.5% in 2011 compared

with 2010. The decline in both years was due to lower sales of third-party equipment.

Technology gross profit percent was 63.9% in 2012, 56.9% in 2011 and 55.0% in 2010. Technology operating income

percent was 33.1% in 2012 compared with 21.5% in 2011 and 21.1% in 2010. The increases were due to a higher relative

mix of ClearPath sales.

New accounting pronouncements

See Note 5 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a full description of recent accounting pronouncements,

including the expected dates of adoption and estimated effects on the company’s consolidated financial statements.

Financial condition

The company’s principal sources of liquidity are cash on hand, cash from operations and its revolving credit facility,

discussed below. The company and certain international subsidiaries have access to uncommitted lines of credit from

various banks. The company believes that it will have adequate sources of liquidity to meet its expected 2013 cash

requirements.

Cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2012 were $655.6 million compared with $714.9 million at December 31,

2011. The decline was principally due to cash used for the debt reductions described below.

As of December 31, 2012, $449.7 million of cash and cash equivalents were held by the company’s foreign subsidiaries

and branches operating outside of the U.S. In the future, if these funds are needed for the company’s operations in the

U.S., the company may be required to accrue and pay taxes to repatriate these funds. See Note 7 of the Notes to

Consolidated Financial Statements regarding the company’s intention to indefinitely reinvest earnings of foreign subsidiaries.
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During 2012, cash provided by operations was $261.3 million compared with $317.2 million in 2011. Cash provided by

operations during 2012 was negatively impacted by an increase in cash contributions to the company’s defined benefit

pension plans, offset in part by lower cash payments for interest expense. During 2012, the company contributed cash of

$201.5 million to such plans compared with $82.7 million during 2011. The principal reason for the increase was that in the

current year, the company contributed $111.1 million to its U.S. qualified defined benefit pension plan compared with no

contributions to that plan in 2011.

Cash used for investing activities in 2012 was $126.7 million compared with cash used of $96.3 million in 2011. Net

proceeds from investments in 2012 were $1.3 million compared with net proceeds of $3.0 million in 2011. Proceeds from

investments and purchases of investments represent derivative financial instruments used to manage the company’s

currency exposure to market risks from changes in foreign currency exchange rates. During the year ended December 31,

2012, the net change in restricted deposits resulted in cash usage of $.6 million compared with cash provided of

$50.7 million in 2011. In addition, the investment in marketable software was $56.4 million in 2012 compared with

$51.7 million in 2011, capital additions of properties were $40.1 million in 2012 compared with $42.2 million in 2011 and

capital additions of outsourcing assets were $36.1 million in 2012 compared with $40.5 million in 2011. The current year

includes net proceeds of $5.2 million related to sales of businesses and assets compared with net payments of

$15.6 million in 2011.

Cash used for financing activities during 2012 was $204.4 million compared with cash used of $319.4 million in 2011. The

current year included net cash proceeds of $204.8 million related to the issuance of 6.25% senior notes; cash payments to

retire long-term debt of $388.9 million (see discussion below); and $16.2 million of dividends paid on preferred stock. The

prior year included cash proceeds of $249.7 million related to the issuance of preferred stock, net of issuance costs; cash

payments to retire long-term debt of $555.7 million; and $12.2 million of dividends paid on preferred stock.

At December 31, 2012, total debt was $210.3 million, a decrease of $149.4 million from December 31, 2011.

On February 28, 2011, the company sold 2,587,500 shares of 6.25% mandatory convertible preferred stock for net

proceeds of $249.7 million. Each share of mandatory convertible preferred stock will automatically convert on March 1,

2014 into between 2.1899 and 2.6717 shares of the company’s common stock, subject to adjustment, depending on the

volume weighted average price per share of the company’s common stock over the 20 consecutive trading days ending on

the third trading day immediately preceding the mandatory conversion date. At any time prior to March 1, 2014, holders may

elect to convert all or a portion of their shares of the mandatory convertible preferred stock at the minimum conversion rate

of 2.1899 shares of the company’s common stock, subject to adjustment.

The company pays dividends on each share of the mandatory convertible preferred stock on a cumulative basis at an annual

rate of 6.25% on the initial liquidation preference of $100 per share (equivalent to $6.25 per share per year). Dividends

accrue and accumulate from the date of issuance and, to the extent the company has lawfully available funds to pay

dividends and the company’s Board of Directors or an authorized committee of the Board of Directors declares a dividend

payable, the company will pay dividends on March 1, June 1, September 1 and December 1 of each year prior to March 1,

2014 in cash and on March 1, 2014 or any earlier conversion date in cash, shares of the company’s common stock, or a

combination thereof, at the company’s election. The annualized dividend on the mandatory convertible preferred stock is

approximately $16.2 million until conversion.

On August 21, 2012, the company issued $210 million of 6.25% senior notes due 2017. During 2012, the company retired

an aggregate principal amount of $362.3 million of its long-term debt, comprised of all of the remaining $186.2 million of its

12.75% senior secured notes due 2014, all of the remaining $25.5 million of its 141⁄4% senior secured notes due 2015 and

all of the remaining $150.6 million of its 12.50% senior notes due 2016. The company used cash on hand and the net

proceeds from the issuance of the 6.25% senior notes due 2017 to fund the retirement of this debt. During 2011, the

company retired an aggregate principal amount of $477.9 million of long-term debt which was funded by the sale of

mandatory convertible preferred stock (see Note 17 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements) and cash on hand.
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In June 2011, the company entered into a five-year secured revolving credit facility which provides for loans and letters of

credit up to an aggregate amount of $150 million (with a limit on letters of credit of $100 million). Borrowing limits under the

credit agreement are based upon the amount of eligible U.S. accounts receivable. At December 31, 2012, the company had

no borrowings and $26.3 million of letters of credit outstanding under the facility. At December 31, 2012, availability under

the facility was $94.7 million net of letters of credit issued. Borrowings under the facility will bear interest based on short-

term rates. The credit agreement contains customary representations and warranties, including that there has been no

material adverse change in the company’s business, properties, operations or financial condition. It also contains financial

covenants requiring the company to maintain a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio and, if the company’s consolidated

cash plus availability under the credit facility falls below $130 million, a maximum secured leverage ratio. The credit

agreement allows the company to pay dividends on its preferred stock unless the company is in default and to, among other

things, repurchase its equity, prepay other debt, incur other debt or liens, dispose of assets and make acquisitions, loans

and investments, provided the company complies with certain requirements and limitations set forth in the agreement.

Events of default include non-payment, failure to comply with covenants, materially incorrect representations and warranties,

change of control and default under other debt aggregating at least $50 million. The credit facility is guaranteed by Unisys

Holding Corporation, Unisys NPL, Inc. and any future material domestic subsidiaries. The facility is secured by the assets of

Unisys Corporation and the subsidiary guarantors, other than certain excluded assets. The company may elect to prepay or

terminate the credit facility without penalty.

At December 31, 2012, the company has met all covenants and conditions under its various lending agreements. The

company expects to continue to meet these covenants and conditions.

At December 31, 2012, the company had outstanding standby letters of credit and surety bonds of approximately

$324 million related to performance and payment guarantees. On the basis of experience with these arrangements, the

company believes that any obligations that may arise will not be material.

As described more fully in Notes 9 and 11 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, at December 31, 2012, the

company had certain cash obligations, which are due as follows:

(millions of dollars) Total
Less than

1 year 1-3 years 4-5 years After 5 years

Long-term debt $210.3 $ .3 $ – $210.0 $ –
Interest payments on long-term debt 65.4 12.9 26.3 26.2 –
Operating leases 271.2 65.7 101.7 57.4 46.4
Minimum purchase obligations 61.9 30.6 31.3 – –

Total $608.8 $109.5 $159.3 $293.6 $46.4

As described in Note 16 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, in 2013, the company expects to make cash

contributions of $146.3 million to its worldwide defined benefit pension plans, which is comprised of $111.8 million primarily

for non-U.S. defined benefit pension plans and $34.5 million for the company’s U.S. qualified defined benefit pension plan.

The company has on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission an effective registration statement, expiring in June

of 2015, covering debt or equity securities, which enables the company to be prepared for future market opportunities.

The company may, from time to time, redeem, tender for, or repurchase its securities in the open market or in privately

negotiated transactions depending upon availability, market conditions and other factors.

In December 2012, the company’s Board of Directors authorized the company to purchase up to an aggregate of $50 million

of the company’s common stock and mandatory convertible preferred stock through December 31, 2014. Under the

authorization, the company can repurchase shares in the open market, which may include the use of 10b5-1 plans, or

through privately negotiated transactions. The timing of repurchases, if any, will depend upon several factors, including

market and business conditions. Share repurchases may be suspended or discontinued at any time. As of December 31,

2012, no shares have been purchased.
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Market risk

The company has exposure to interest rate risk from its short-term and long-term debt. In general, the company’s long-term

debt is fixed rate and, to the extent it has any, its short-term debt is variable rate. See Note 9 of the Notes to Consolidated

Financial Statements for components of the company’s long-term debt. The company believes that the market risk assuming

a hypothetical 10% increase in interest rates would not be material to the fair value of these financial instruments, or the

related cash flows, or future results of operations.

The company is also exposed to foreign currency exchange rate risks. The company is a net receiver of currencies other than

the U.S. dollar and, as such, can benefit from a weaker dollar, and can be adversely affected by a stronger dollar relative to

currencies worldwide. Accordingly, changes in exchange rates, and in particular a strengthening of the U.S. dollar, may

adversely affect consolidated revenue and operating margins as expressed in U.S. dollars. Currency exposure gains and

losses are mitigated by purchasing components and incurring expenses in local currencies.

In addition, the company uses derivative financial instruments, primarily foreign exchange forward contracts, to reduce its

exposure to market risks from changes in foreign currency exchange rates on intercompany balances. See Note 12 of the

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information on the company’s derivative financial instruments.

The company has performed a sensitivity analysis assuming a hypothetical 10% adverse movement in foreign currency

exchange rates applied to these derivative financial instruments described above. As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the

analysis indicated that such market movements would have reduced the estimated fair value of these derivative financial

instruments by approximately $43 million and $13 million, respectively. Based on changes in the timing and amount of

interest rate and foreign currency exchange rate movements and the company’s actual exposures and hedges, actual gains

and losses in the future may differ from the above analysis.

Critical accounting policies

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires

management to make estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements

and accompanying notes. Certain accounting policies, methods and estimates are particularly important because of their

significance to the financial statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ from

management’s current judgments. The company bases its estimates and judgments on historical experience and on other

assumptions that it believes are reasonable under the circumstances; however, to the extent there are material differences

between these estimates, judgments and assumptions and actual results, the financial statements will be affected.

Although there are a number of accounting policies, methods and estimates affecting the company’s financial statements as

described in Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, the following critical accounting policies reflect the

significant estimates, judgments and assumptions. The development and selection of these critical accounting policies have

been determined by management of the company and the related disclosures have been reviewed with the Audit Committee

of the Board of Directors.

Outsourcing

Typically, the initial terms of the company’s outsourcing contracts are between 3 and 5 years. In certain of these

arrangements, the company hires certain of the customers’ employees and often becomes responsible for the related

employee obligations, such as pension and severance commitments. In addition, system development activity on

outsourcing contracts often requires significant upfront investments by the company. The company funds these

investments, and any employee-related obligations, from customer prepayments and operating cash flow. Also, in the early

phases of these contracts, gross margins may be lower than in later years when the work force and facilities have been

rationalized for efficient operations, and an integrated systems solution has been implemented.
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Revenue under these contracts is recognized when the company performs the services or processes transactions in

accordance with contractual performance standards. Customer prepayments (even if nonrefundable) are deferred (classified

as a liability) and recognized systematically as revenue over the initial contract term.

Costs on outsourcing contracts are charged to expense as incurred. However, direct costs incurred related to the inception

of an outsourcing contract are deferred and charged to expense over the initial contract term. These costs consist principally

of initial customer setup and employment obligations related to employees hired under terms of the outsourcing contracts.

In addition, the costs of equipment and software, some of which are internally developed, are capitalized and depreciated

over the shorter of their life or the initial contract term.

Recoverability of outsourcing assets is subject to various business risks, including the timely completion and ultimate cost of

the outsourcing solution, and realization of expected profitability of existing outsourcing contracts. The company quarterly

compares the carrying value of the outsourcing assets with the undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by

the outsourcing assets to determine if there is an impairment. If impaired, the outsourcing assets are reduced to an

estimated fair value on a discounted cash flow approach. The company prepares its cash flow estimates based on

assumptions that it believes to be reasonable but are also inherently uncertain. Actual future cash flows could differ from

these estimates. At December 31, 2012 and 2011, the net capitalized amount related to outsourcing contracts was

$126.3 million and $137.9 million, respectively.

Revenue recognition

The majority of the company’s sales agreements contain standard business terms and conditions; however, some

agreements contain multiple elements or non-standard terms and conditions. As discussed in Note 1 of the Notes to

Consolidated Financial Statements, the company enters into multiple-element arrangements, which may include any

combination of hardware, software or services. As a result, significant contract interpretation is sometimes required to

determine the appropriate accounting, including whether the deliverables specified in a multiple-element arrangement should

be treated as separate units of accounting for revenue recognition purposes, and, if so, how the price should be allocated

among the elements and when to recognize revenue for each element. The company recognizes revenue on delivered

elements only if: (a) any undelivered products or services are not essential to the functionality of the delivered products or

services, (b) the company has an enforceable claim to receive the amount due in the event it does not deliver the

undelivered products or services, (c) there is evidence of the selling price for each undelivered product or service, and

(d) the revenue recognition criteria otherwise have been met for the delivered elements. Otherwise, revenue on delivered

elements is recognized as the undelivered elements are delivered. For arrangements with multiple elements involving the

licensing or sale of software and software-related elements, the allocation of revenue is based on vendor-specific objective

evidence (VSOE), which is based upon normal pricing and discounting practices for those products and services when sold

separately. The company’s continued ability to determine VSOE of fair value will depend on continued sufficient volumes and

sufficient consistent pricing of stand-alone sales of such undelivered elements. In addition, the company’s revenue

recognition policy states that revenue is not recognized until collectibility is deemed probable. Changes in judgments on

these assumptions and estimates could materially impact the timing of revenue recognition.

For long-term fixed price systems integration contracts, the company recognizes revenue and profit as the contracts progress

using the percentage-of-completion method of accounting, which relies on estimates of total expected contract revenues and

costs. The company follows this method because reasonably dependable estimates of the revenue and costs applicable to

various elements of a contract can be made. The financial reporting of these contracts depends on estimates, which are

assessed continually during the term of the contracts and therefore, recognized revenues and profit are subject to revisions

as the contract progresses to completion. Revisions in profit estimates are reflected in the period in which the facts that

give rise to the revision become known. Accordingly, favorable changes in estimates result in additional revenue and profit

recognition, and unfavorable changes in estimates result in a reduction of recognized revenue and profit. When estimates

indicate that a loss will be incurred on a contract upon completion, a provision for the expected loss is recorded in the

period in which the loss becomes evident. As work progresses under a loss contract, revenue continues to be recognized,
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and a portion of the contract costs incurred in each period is charged to the contract loss reserve. For other systems

integration projects, the company recognizes revenue when the services have been performed.

Income Taxes

Accounting rules governing income taxes require that deferred tax assets and liabilities be recognized using enacted tax

rates for the effect of temporary differences between the book and tax bases of recorded assets and liabilities. These rules

also require that deferred tax assets be reduced by a valuation allowance if it is more likely than not that some portion or

the entire deferred tax asset will not be realized.

At December 31, 2012 and 2011, the company had deferred tax assets in excess of deferred tax liabilities of

$2,897.5 million and $2,822.8 million, respectively. For the reasons cited below, at December 31, 2012 and 2011,

management determined that it is more likely than not that $165.7 million and $174.3 million, respectively, of such assets

will be realized, resulting in a valuation allowance of $2,731.8 million and $2,648.5 million, respectively.

The company evaluates the realizability of its deferred tax assets by assessing its valuation allowance and by adjusting the

amount of such allowance, if necessary. The factors used to assess the likelihood of realization are the company’s historical

profitability, forecast of future taxable income and available tax-planning strategies that could be implemented to realize the

net deferred tax assets. The company uses tax-planning strategies to realize or renew net deferred tax assets to avoid the

potential loss of future tax benefits.

Failure to achieve forecasted taxable income might affect the ultimate realization of the net deferred tax assets. Factors that

may affect the company’s ability to achieve sufficient forecasted taxable income include, but are not limited to, the following:

increased competition, a decline in sales or margins, loss of market share, delays in product availability or technological

obsolescence. See “Factors that may affect future results.”

Internal Revenue Code Sections 382 and 383 provide annual limitations with respect to the ability of a corporation to utilize

its net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards, respectively, against future U.S. taxable income, if the corporation

experiences an “ownership change.” The company has determined that, for the purposes of the rules of Section 382, an

ownership change occurred in February 2011. See Note 7 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

The company’s provision for income taxes and the determination of the resulting deferred tax assets and liabilities involve a

significant amount of management judgment and are based on the best information available at the time. The company

operates within federal, state and international taxing jurisdictions and is subject to audit in these jurisdictions. These audits

can involve complex issues, which may require an extended period of time to resolve. As a result, the actual income tax

liabilities in the jurisdictions with respect to any fiscal year are ultimately determined long after the financial statements have

been published.

Accounting rules governing income taxes also prescribe a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial

statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. The company

maintains reserves for estimated tax exposures including penalties and interest. Income tax exposures include potential

challenges of intercompany pricing and other tax matters. Exposures are settled primarily through the settlement of audits

within these tax jurisdictions, but can also be affected by changes in applicable tax law or other factors, which could cause

management of the company to believe a revision of past estimates is appropriate. Management believes that an

appropriate liability has been established for estimated exposures; however, actual results may differ materially from these

estimates. The liabilities are reviewed quarterly for their adequacy and appropriateness. See Note 7 of the Notes to

Consolidated Financial Statements.

Pensions

Accounting rules governing defined benefit pension plans require that amounts recognized in financial statements be

determined on an actuarial basis. The measurement of the company’s pension obligations, costs and liabilities is dependent

on a variety of assumptions selected by the company and used by the company’s actuaries. These assumptions include
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estimates of the present value of projected future pension payments to plan participants, taking into consideration the

likelihood of potential future events such as salary increases and demographic experience. The assumptions used in

developing the required estimates include the following key factors: discount rates, salary growth, retirement rates, inflation,

expected return on plan assets and mortality rates.

As permitted for purposes of computing pension expense, the company uses a calculated value of plan assets (which is

further described below). This allows that the effects of the performance of the pension plan’s assets on the company’s

computation of pension income or expense be amortized over future periods. A substantial portion of the company’s

pension plan assets relates to its qualified defined benefit plan in the United States.

A significant element in determining the company’s pension income or expense is the expected long-term rate of return on

plan assets. The company sets the expected long-term rate of return based on the expected long-term return of the various

asset categories in which it invests. The company considers the current expectations for future returns and the actual

historical returns of each asset class. Also, because the company’s investment policy is to actively manage certain asset

classes where the potential exists to outperform the broader market, the expected returns for those asset classes are

adjusted to reflect the expected additional returns. For 2013 and 2012, the company has assumed that the expected long-

term rate of return on U.S. plan assets will be 8.00% for both years and on the company’s non-U.S. plan assets will be

6.40% and 6.59%, respectively. A change of 25 basis points in the expected long-term rate of return for the company’s U.S.

and non-U.S. pension plans causes a change of approximately $9 million and $6 million, respectively, in pension expense.

The assumed long-term rate of return on assets is applied to a calculated value of plan assets, which recognizes changes in

the fair value of plan assets in a systematic manner over four years. This produces the expected return on plan assets that

is included in pension income or expense. The difference between this expected return and the actual return on plan assets

is deferred. The net deferral of past asset gains or losses affects the calculated value of plan assets and, ultimately, future

pension income or expense. At December 31, 2012, for the company’s U.S. qualified defined benefit pension plan, the

calculated value of plan assets was $3.82 billion and the fair value was $3.79 billion.

At the end of each year, the company determines the discount rate to be used to calculate the present value of plan

liabilities. The discount rate is an estimate of the current interest rate at which the pension liabilities could be effectively

settled at the end of the year. In estimating this rate, the company looks to rates of return on high-quality, fixed-income

investments that (a) receive one of the two highest ratings given by a recognized ratings agency and (b) are currently

available and expected to be available during the period to maturity of the pension benefits. At December 31, 2012, the

company determined this rate to be 4.01% for its U.S. defined benefit pension plans, a decrease of 95 basis points from

the rate used at December 31, 2011. A change of 25 basis points in the U.S. and non-U.S. discount rates causes a change

in pension expense of approximately $2 million and $5 million, respectively, and a change of approximately $140 million and

$122 million, respectively, in the benefit obligation. The net effect of changes in the discount rate, as well as the net effect

of other changes in actuarial assumptions and experience, has been deferred, as permitted.

Gains and losses are defined as changes in the amount of either the projected benefit obligation or plan assets resulting

from experience different from that assumed and from changes in assumptions. Because gains and losses may reflect

refinements in estimates as well as real changes in economic values and because some gains in one period may be offset

by losses in another and vice versa, the accounting rules do not require recognition of gains and losses as components of

net pension cost of the period in which they arise.

As a minimum, amortization of an unrecognized net gain or loss must be included as a component of net pension cost for a

year if, as of the beginning of the year, that unrecognized net gain or loss exceeds 10 percent of the greater of the projected

benefit obligation or the calculated value of plan assets. If amortization is required, the minimum amortization is that excess

above the 10 percent divided by the average remaining life expectancy of the plan participants. For the company’s U.S.

qualified defined benefit pension plan and the company’s non-U.S. pension plans, that period is approximately 19 years. At

December 31, 2012, based on the calculated value of plan assets, the estimated unrecognized loss for the company’s U.S.

qualified defined benefit pension plan and the company’s non-U.S. pension plans was $3.17 billion and $.8 billion,

respectively.
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For the year ended December 31, 2012, the company recognized consolidated pretax pension expense of $108.2 million,

compared with pretax pension expense of $34.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2011. For 2013, the company

expects to recognize pension expense of $93.1 million. See Note 16 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Factors that may affect future results

From time to time, the company provides information containing “forward-looking” statements, as defined in the Private

Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements provide current expectations of future events and

include any statement that does not directly relate to any historical or current fact. Words such as “anticipates,” “believes,”

“expects,” “intends,” “plans,” “projects” and similar expressions may identify such forward-looking statements. All forward-

looking statements rely on assumptions and are subject to risks, uncertainties and other factors that could cause the

company’s actual results to differ materially from expectations. Factors that could affect future results include, but are not

limited to, those discussed below. Any forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date on which that statement is

made. The company assumes no obligation to update any forward-looking statement to reflect events or circumstances that

occur after the date on which the statement is made.

Factors that could affect future results include the following:

Future results will depend in part on the company’s ability to drive profitable growth in consulting and systems integration.

The company’s ability to grow profitably in this business will depend on the level of demand for systems integration projects

and the portfolio of solutions the company offers for specific industries. It will also depend on an efficient utilization of

services delivery personnel. In addition, profit margins in this business are largely a function of the rates the company is

able to charge for services and the chargeability of its professionals. If the company is unable to attain sufficient rates and

chargeability for its professionals, profit margins will be adversely affected. The rates the company is able to charge for

services are affected by a number of factors, including clients’ perception of the company’s ability to add value through its

services; introduction of new services or products by the company or its competitors; pricing policies of competitors; and

general economic conditions. Chargeability is also affected by a number of factors, including the company’s ability to

transition employees from completed projects to new engagements, and its ability to forecast demand for services and

thereby maintain an appropriate headcount.

The company’s future results will depend in part on its ability to take on, successfully implement and grow outsourcing

operations. The company’s outsourcing contracts are multiyear engagements under which the company takes over

management of a client’s technology operations, business processes or networks. In a number of these arrangements, the

company hires certain of its clients’ employees and may become responsible for the related employee obligations, such as

pension and severance commitments. In addition, system development activity on outsourcing contracts may require the

company to make significant upfront investments. The company will need to have available sufficient financial resources in

order to take on these obligations and make these investments.

Recoverability of outsourcing assets is dependent on various factors, including the timely completion and ultimate cost of

the outsourcing solution, and realization of expected profitability of existing outsourcing contracts. These risks could result in

an impairment of a portion of the associated assets, which are tested for recoverability quarterly.

As long-term relationships, outsourcing contracts provide a base of recurring revenue. However, outsourcing contracts are

highly complex and can involve the design, development, implementation and operation of new solutions and the

transitioning of clients from their existing business processes to the new environment. In the early phases of these

contracts, gross margins may be lower than in later years when an integrated solution has been implemented, the duplicate

costs of transitioning from the old to the new system have been eliminated and the work force and facilities have been

rationalized for efficient operations. Future results will depend on the company’s ability to effectively and timely complete

these implementations, transitions and rationalizations.
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Future results will also depend, in part, on market demand for the company’s high-end enterprise servers and maintenance

on these servers. The company continues to apply its resources to develop value-added software capabilities and optimized

solutions for these server platforms which provide competitive differentiation. Future results will depend on the company’s

ability to maintain its installed base for ClearPath and to develop next-generation ClearPath products to expand the market.

The company faces aggressive competition in the information services and technology marketplace, which could lead to

reduced demand for the company’s products and services and could have an adverse effect on the company’s business. The

information services and technology markets in which the company operates include a large number of companies vying for

customers and market share both domestically and internationally. The company’s competitors include consulting and other

professional services firms, systems integrators, outsourcing providers, infrastructure services providers, computer hardware

manufacturers and software providers. Some of the company’s competitors may develop competing products and services

that offer better price-performance or that reach the market in advance of the company’s offerings. Some competitors also

have or may develop greater financial and other resources than the company, with enhanced ability to compete for market

share, in some instances through significant economic incentives to secure contracts. Some also may be better able to

compete for skilled professionals. Any of these factors could lead to reduced demand for the company’s products and

services and could have an adverse effect on the company’s business. Future results will depend on the company’s ability

to mitigate the effects of aggressive competition on revenues, pricing and margins and on the company’s ability to attract

and retain talented people.

The company’s future results will depend on its ability to retain significant clients. The company has a number of significant

long-term contracts with clients, including governmental entities, and its future success will depend, in part, on retaining its

relationships with these clients. The company could lose clients for such reasons as contract expiration, conversion to a

competing service provider, disputes with clients or a decision to in-source services, including for contracts with

governmental entities as part of the rebid process. The company could also lose clients as a result of their merger,

acquisition or business failure. The company may not be able to replace the revenue and earnings from any such lost client.

The company’s future results will depend upon its ability to effectively anticipate and respond to volatility and rapid

technological change in its industry. The company operates in a highly volatile industry characterized by rapid technological

change, evolving technology standards, short product life cycles and continually changing customer demand patterns. Future

success will depend in part on the company’s ability to anticipate and respond to these market trends and to design,

develop, introduce, deliver or obtain new and innovative products, services and software on a timely and cost-effective basis.

The company may not be successful in anticipating or responding to changes in technology, industry standards or customer

preferences, and the market may not demand or accept its services and product offerings. In addition, products and

services developed by competitors may make the company’s offerings less competitive.

The company’s business can be adversely affected by global economic conditions, acts of war, terrorism or natural disasters.

The company’s financial results have been impacted by the global economic slowdown in recent years. If economic

conditions worsen, the company could see reductions in demand and increased pressure on revenue and profit margins.

The company could also see a further consolidation of clients, which could also result in a decrease in demand. The

company’s business could also be affected by acts of war, terrorism or natural disasters. Current world tensions could

escalate, and this could have unpredictable consequences on the world economy and on the company’s business.

The company has significant pension obligations and may be required to make significant cash contributions to its defined

benefit pension plans. The company has unfunded obligations under its U.S. and non-U.S. defined benefit pension plans.

Based on current legislation, recent interest rates and expected returns, in 2013 the company estimates that it will make cash

contributions of $146.3 million to its worldwide defined benefit pension plans, which is comprised of $34.5 million for the

company’s U.S. qualified defined benefit pension plan and $111.8 million primarily for non-U.S. defined benefit pension plans.
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Deterioration in the value of the company’s worldwide defined benefit pension plan assets, as well as discount rate changes,

could require the company to make larger cash contributions to its defined benefit pension plans in the future. In addition, the

funding of plan deficits over a shorter period of time than currently anticipated could result in making cash contributions to

these plans on a more accelerated basis. Either of these events would reduce the cash available for working capital and other

corporate uses and may have an adverse impact on the company’s operations, financial condition and liquidity.

The company’s future results will depend on its ability to continue to reduce costs, focus its global resources and simplify its

business structure. Over the past several years, the company has implemented significant cost-reduction measures and

continues to focus on measures intended to further improve cost efficiency. Future results will depend on the success of

these efforts as well as on the company’s continued ability to focus its global resources and simplify its business structure.

The company’s contracts may not be as profitable as expected or provide the expected level of revenues. In a number of the

company’s long-term contracts for infrastructure services, outsourcing, help desk and similar services, the company’s

revenue is based on the volume of products and services provided. As a result, revenue levels anticipated at the contract’s

inception are not guaranteed. In addition, some of these contracts may permit termination at the customer’s discretion

before the end of the contract’s term or may permit termination or impose other penalties if the company does not meet the

performance levels specified in the contracts.

The company’s contracts with governmental entities are subject to the availability of appropriated funds. These contracts

also contain provisions allowing the governmental entity to terminate the contract at the governmental entity’s discretion

before the end of the contract’s term. In addition, if the company’s performance is unacceptable to the customer under a

government contract, the government retains the right to pursue remedies under the affected contract, which remedies

could include termination.

Certain of the company’s outsourcing agreements require that the company’s prices be benchmarked if the customer

requests it and provide that those prices may be adjusted downward if the pricing for similar services in the market has

changed. As a result, revenues anticipated at the beginning of the terms of these contracts may decline in the future.

Some of the company’s systems integration contracts are fixed-price contracts under which the company assumes the risk

for delivery of the contracted services and products at an agreed-upon fixed price. Should the company experience problems

in performing fixed-price contracts on a profitable basis, adjustments to the estimated cost to complete may be required.

Future results will depend on the company’s ability to perform these services contracts profitably.

The company’s contracts with U.S. governmental agencies may subject the company to audits, criminal penalties, sanctions

and other expenses and fines. The company frequently enters into contracts with governmental entities. U.S. government

agencies, including the Defense Contract Audit Agency and the Department of Labor, routinely audit government contractors.

These agencies review a contractor’s performance under its contracts, cost structure and compliance with applicable laws,

regulations and standards. The U.S. government also may review the adequacy of, and a contractor’s compliance with

contract terms and conditions, its systems and policies, including the contractor’s purchasing, property, estimating, billing,

accounting, compensation and management information systems. Any costs found to be overcharged or improperly allocated

to a specific contract or any amounts improperly billed or charged for products or services will be subject to reimbursement

to the government. In addition, government contractors, such as the company, are required to disclose credible evidence of

certain violations of law and contract overpayments to the federal government. If the company is found to have participated

in improper or illegal activities, the company may be subject to civil and criminal penalties and administrative sanctions,

including termination of contracts, forfeiture of profits, suspension of payments, fines and suspension or prohibition from

doing business with the U.S. government. Any negative publicity related to such contracts, regardless of the accuracy of

such publicity, may adversely affect the company’s business or reputation.

The company may face damage to its reputation or legal liability if its clients are not satisfied with its services or products.

The success of the company’s business is dependent on strong, long-term client relationships and on its reputation for

responsiveness and quality. As a result, if a client is not satisfied with the company’s services or products, its reputation
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could be damaged and its business adversely affected. Allegations by private litigants or regulators of improper conduct, as

well as negative publicity and press speculation about the company, whatever the outcome and whether or not valid, may

harm its reputation. In addition to harm to reputation, if the company fails to meet its contractual obligations, it could be

subject to legal liability, which could adversely affect its business, operating results and financial condition.

Breaches of data security could expose the company to legal liability and could harm the company’s business and

reputation. The company’s business includes managing, processing, storing and transmitting proprietary and confidential

data, including personal information, within the company’s own IT systems and those the company designs, develops, hosts

or manages for clients. Breaches of data security involving these systems by hackers, other third parties or the company’s

employees, despite established security controls with respect to this data, could result in the loss of data or the

unauthorized disclosure or misuse of confidential information of the company, its clients, or others. This could result in

litigation and legal liability for the company, lead to the loss of existing or potential clients, adversely affect the market’s

perception of the security and reliability of the company’s products and services and lead to shutdowns or disruptions of the

company’s IT systems. In addition, such breaches could subject the company to fines and penalties for violations of data

privacy laws. This may negatively impact the company’s reputation and financial results.

Future results will depend in part on the performance and capabilities of third parties with whom the company has

commercial relationships. The company has commercial relationships with suppliers, channel partners and other parties that

have complementary products, services or skills. Future results will depend, in part, on the performance and capabilities of

these third parties, on the ability of external suppliers to deliver components at reasonable prices and in a timely manner,

and on the financial condition of, and the company’s relationship with, distributors and other indirect channel partners.

More than half of the company’s revenue is derived from operations outside of the United States, and the company is

subject to the risks of doing business internationally. More than half of the company’s total revenue is derived from

international operations. The risks of doing business internationally include foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations,

currency restrictions and devaluations, changes in political or economic conditions, trade protection measures, import or

export licensing requirements, multiple and possibly overlapping and conflicting tax laws, new tax legislation, weaker

intellectual property protections in some jurisdictions and additional legal and regulatory compliance requirements applicable

to businesses that operate internationally, including the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and non-U.S. laws and regulations.

Financial market conditions may inhibit the company’s ability to access capital and credit markets to address its liquidity

needs. Financial market conditions may impact the company’s ability to borrow, to refinance its outstanding debt, or to

utilize surety bonds, letters of credit, foreign exchange derivatives and other financial instruments the company uses to

conduct its business. Although the company primarily uses cash on hand to address its liquidity needs, its ability to do so

assumes that its operations will continue to generate sufficient cash.

The company’s services or products may infringe upon the intellectual property rights of others. The company cannot be sure

that its services and products do not infringe on the intellectual property rights of third parties, and it may have infringement

claims asserted against it or against its clients. These claims could cost the company money, prevent it from offering some

services or products, or damage its reputation.

Pending litigation could affect the company’s results of operations or cash flow. There are various lawsuits, claims,

investigations and proceedings that have been brought or asserted against the company, which arise in the ordinary course

of business, including actions with respect to commercial and government contracts, labor and employment, employee

benefits, environmental matters, intellectual property and non-income tax and employment compensation in Brazil. See Note

14 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for more information on litigation. The company believes that it has

valid defenses with respect to legal matters pending against it. Litigation is inherently unpredictable, however, and it is

possible that the company’s results of operations or cash flow could be materially affected in any particular period by the

resolution of one or more of the legal matters pending against it.
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The company could face business and financial risk in implementing future dispositions or acquisitions. As part of the

company’s business strategy, it may from time to time consider disposing of existing technologies, products and businesses

that may no longer be in alignment with its strategic direction, including transactions of a material size, or acquiring

complementary technologies, products and businesses. Potential risks with respect to dispositions include difficulty finding

buyers or alternative exit strategies on acceptable terms in a timely manner; potential loss of employees or clients;

dispositions at unfavorable prices or on unfavorable terms, including relating to retained liabilities; and post closing

indemnity claims. Any acquisitions may result in the incurrence of substantial additional indebtedness or contingent

liabilities. Acquisitions could also result in potentially dilutive issuances of equity securities and an increase in amortization

expenses related to intangible assets. Additional potential risks associated with acquisitions include integration difficulties;

difficulties in maintaining or enhancing the profitability of any acquired business; risks of entering markets in which the

company has no or limited prior experience; potential loss of employees or failure to maintain or renew any contracts of any

acquired business; and expenses of any undiscovered or potential liabilities of the acquired product or business, including

relating to employee benefits contribution obligations or environmental requirements. Further, with respect to both

dispositions and acquisitions, management’s attention could be diverted from other business concerns. Adverse credit

conditions could also affect the company’s ability to consummate dispositions or acquisitions. The risks associated with

dispositions and acquisitions could have a material adverse effect upon the company’s business, financial condition and

results of operations. There can be no assurance that the company will be successful in consummating future dispositions

or acquisitions on favorable terms or at all.
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Unisys Corporation
Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated Statements of Income
Year ended December 31 (millions, except per share data) 2012 2011 2010

Revenue

Services $3,192.4 $3,354.6 $3,457.4

Technology 514.0 499.2 562.2

3,706.4 3,853.8 4,019.6

Costs and expenses

Cost of revenue:

Services 2,567.7 2,672.8 2,731.8

Technology 165.2 194.0 216.1

2,732.9 2,866.8 2,947.9

Selling, general and administrative expenses 572.8 586.3 617.1

Research and development expenses 81.5 76.1 78.9

3,387.2 3,529.2 3,643.9

Operating profit 319.2 324.6 375.7

Interest expense 27.5 63.1 101.8

Other income (expense), net (37.6) (55.5) (51.0)

Income from continuing operations before income taxes 254.1 206.0 222.9

Provision for income taxes 97.3 64.8 58.8

Consolidated net income before discontinued operations 156.8 141.2 164.1

Income from discontinued operations, net of tax – – 77.2

Consolidated net income 156.8 141.2 241.3

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests 11.2 7.2 5.2

Net income attributable to Unisys Corporation 145.6 134.0 236.1

Preferred stock dividends 16.2 13.5 –

Net income attributable to Unisys Corporation common
shareholders $ 129.4 $ 120.5 $ 236.1

Amounts attributable to Unisys Corporation common
shareholders

Income from continuing operations, net of tax $ 129.4 $ 120.5 $ 158.9

Income from discontinued operations, net of tax – – 77.2

Net income attributable to Unisys Corporation common
shareholders $ 129.4 $ 120.5 $ 236.1

Earnings per common share attributable to Unisys Corporation

Basic

Continuing operations $ 2.95 $ 2.79 $ 3.74

Discontinued operations – – 1.81

Total $ 2.95 $ 2.79 $ 5.55

Diluted

Continuing operations $ 2.84 $ 2.71 $ 3.67

Discontinued operations – – 1.78

Total $ 2.84 $ 2.71 $ 5.45

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Unisys Corporation
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
Year ended December 31 (millions) 2012 2011 2010

Consolidated net income $ 156.8 $ 141.2 $241.3

Other comprehensive income

Foreign currency translation 17.7 (46.3) 24.2

Postretirement adjustments, net of tax of $(28.3) in 2012,
$(20.3) in 2011 and $22.1 in 2010 (452.3) (728.5) 62.7

Total other comprehensive income (loss) (434.6) (774.8) 86.9

Comprehensive income (loss) (277.8) (633.6) 328.2

Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests (9.3) (5.0) (6.9)

Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to Unisys Corporation $(287.1) $(638.6) $321.3

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Unisys Corporation
Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31 (millions) 2012 2011

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 655.6 $ 714.9

Accounts and notes receivable, net 670.2 673.0

Inventories:

Parts and finished equipment 29.3 38.1

Work in process and materials 20.7 26.7

Deferred income taxes 21.6 27.1

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 115.0 123.6

Total 1,512.4 1,603.4

Properties 1,262.2 1,257.2

Less – Accumulated depreciation and amortization 1,085.8 1,065.9

Properties, net 176.4 191.3

Outsourcing assets, net 126.3 137.9

Marketable software, net 124.2 129.8

Prepaid postretirement assets 3.3 43.9

Deferred income taxes 162.7 181.5

Goodwill 192.3 192.5

Other long-term assets 122.8 131.9

Total $ 2,420.4 $ 2,612.2

Liabilities and deficit

Current liabilities

Current maturities of long-term debt $ .3 $ .9

Accounts payable 228.6 241.6

Deferred revenue 389.5 448.1

Other accrued liabilities 411.9 425.5

Total 1,030.3 1,116.1

Long-term debt 210.0 358.8

Long-term postretirement liabilities 2,553.5 2,224.0

Long-term deferred revenue 123.1 120.3

Other long-term liabilities 92.2 104.0

Commitments and contingencies

Deficit

6.25% mandatory convertible preferred stock, net of issuance
costs (2.6 million shares issued) 249.7 249.7

Common stock, par value $.01 per share (100.0 million shares
authorized; 44.3 million shares and 43.8 million shares issued) .4 .4

Accumulated deficit (1,891.0) (2,036.6)

Treasury stock, at cost (48.8) (48.1)

Paid-in capital 4,223.1 4,217.4

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (4,133.6) (3,700.9)

Total Unisys stockholders’ deficit (1,600.2) (1,318.1)

Noncontrolling interests 11.5 7.1

Total deficit (1,588.7) (1,311.0)

Total $ 2,420.4 $ 2,612.2

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Unisys Corporation
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Year ended December 31 (millions) 2012 2011 2010

Cash flows from operating activities

Consolidated net income before discontinued operations $ 156.8 $ 141.2 $ 164.1

Income from discontinued operations, net of tax – – 77.2

Add (deduct) items to reconcile consolidated net income to net
cash provided by operating activities:

Company stock issued for U.S. 401(k) plan 6.2 11.8 –

Foreign currency transaction losses – – 19.9

Loss on debt extinguishment 30.6 85.2 2.1

Employee stock compensation 14.3 13.9 9.4

Depreciation and amortization of properties 54.7 66.4 75.8

Depreciation and amortization of outsourcing assets 57.9 62.7 111.9

Amortization of marketable software 62.0 65.7 62.9

Disposal of capital assets 6.3 1.4 9.8

Gain on sale of businesses and assets (11.7) (2.2) (65.5)

Decrease (increase) in deferred income taxes, net 36.5 28.6 (34.4)

(Increase) decrease in receivables, net (11.2) 92.1 (31.9)

Decrease in inventories 14.2 22.1 12.4

Decrease (increase) in other assets 15.0 (5.9) (94.2)

(Decrease) increase in accounts payable and other accrued
liabilities (98.2) (214.4) 56.5

Decrease in other liabilities (69.4) (50.6) (38.4)

Other (2.7) (.8) (.8)

Net cash provided by operating activities 261.3 317.2 336.8

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from investments 4,108.5 691.2 417.4

Purchases of investments (4,107.2) (688.2) (416.5)

Restricted deposits (.6) 50.7 23.4

Investment in marketable software (56.4) (51.7) (55.8)

Capital additions of properties (40.1) (42.2) (64.1)

Capital additions of outsourcing assets (36.1) (40.5) (83.2)

Net proceeds (payments) from sales of businesses and assets 5.2 (15.6) 117.2

Net cash used for investing activities (126.7) (96.3) (61.6)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 204.8 – –

Payments of long-term debt (388.9) (555.7) (92.8)

Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock, net of issuance
costs – 249.7 –

Dividends paid on preferred stock (16.2) (12.2) –

Dividends paid to noncontrolling interest (4.5) (.4) –

Financing fees – (2.2) (.1)

Proceeds from exercise of stock options .4 1.4 1.4

Net cash used for financing activities (204.4) (319.4) (91.5)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 10.5 (14.9) (3.0)

(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (59.3) (113.4) 180.7

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 714.9 828.3 647.6

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 655.6 $ 714.9 $ 828.3

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Unisys Corporation
Consolidated Statements of Deficit

Unisys Corporation

(millions) Total

Total
Unisys

Corporation
Preferred

Stock

Common
Stock
Par

Value

Accumu-
lated
Deficit

Treasury
Stock At

Cost
Paid-in
Capital

Accumu-
lated
Other

Compre-
hensive

Loss

Non-
controlling
Interests

Balance at December 31, 2009 $(1,271.7) $(1,268.3) $.4 $(2,406.7) $(45.0) $4,196.5 $(3,013.5) $ (3.4)
Consolidated net income 241.3 236.1 236.1 5.2
Stock-based compensation 9.7 9.7 (1.0) 10.7
Translation adjustments 24.2 25.7 25.7 (1.5)
Postretirement plans 62.7 59.5 59.5 3.2
Balance at December 31, 2010 (933.8) (937.3) .4 (2,170.6) (46.0) 4,207.2 (2,928.3) 3.5
Consolidated net income 141.2 134.0 134.0 7.2
Stock-based compensation 24.3 24.3 (2.1) 26.4
Sale of preferred stock, net of expenses 249.7 249.7 $249.7
Dividends declared to preferred holders (16.2) (16.2) (16.2)
Dividends declared to noncontrolling interests (1.4) (1.4)
Translation adjustments (46.3) (44.9) (44.9) (1.4)
Postretirement plans (728.5) (727.7) (727.7) (.8)
Balance at December 31, 2011 (1,311.0) (1,318.1) 249.7 .4 (2,036.6) (48.1) 4,217.4 (3,700.9) 7.1
Consolidated net income 156.8 145.6 145.6 11.2
Stock-based compensation 21.2 21.2 (.7) 21.9
Dividends declared to preferred holders (16.2) (16.2) (16.2)
Dividends declared to noncontrolling interests (3.5) (3.5)
Sale of subsidiary (1.4) (1.4)
Translation adjustments 17.7 14.8 14.8 2.9
Postretirement plans (452.3) (447.5) (447.5) (4.8)
Balance at December 31, 2012 $(1,588.7) $(1,600.2) $249.7 $.4 $(1,891.0) $(48.8) $4,223.1 $(4,133.6) $11.5

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Unisys Corporation
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Summary of significant accounting policies

Principles of consolidation The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of all majority-owned subsidiaries.

Use of estimates The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles

requires management to make estimates and assumptions about future events. These estimates and assumptions affect

the amounts of assets and liabilities reported, disclosures about contingent assets and liabilities and the reported amounts

of revenue and expenses. Such estimates include the valuation of accounts receivable, inventories, outsourcing assets,

marketable software, goodwill and other long-lived assets, legal contingencies, indemnifications, and assumptions used in

the calculation for systems integration projects, income taxes and retirement and other post-employment benefits, among

others. These estimates and assumptions are based on management’s best estimates and judgment. Management

evaluates its estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis using historical experience and other factors, including the

current economic environment, which management believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. Management

adjusts such estimates and assumptions when facts and circumstances dictate. As future events and their effects cannot

be determined with precision, actual results could differ significantly from these estimates. Changes in those estimates

resulting from continuing changes in the economic environment will be reflected in the financial statements in future

periods.

Cash equivalents All short-term investments purchased with a maturity of three months or less and certificates of deposit

which may be withdrawn at any time at the discretion of the company without penalty are classified as cash equivalents.

Inventories Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out method.

Properties Properties are carried at cost and are depreciated over the estimated lives of such assets using the straight-line

method. The estimated lives used, in years, are as follows: buildings, 20 – 50; machinery and office equipment, 4 – 7;

rental equipment, 4; and internal-use software, 3 – 10.

Advertising costs All advertising costs are expensed as incurred. The amount charged to expense during 2012, 2011 and

2010 was $3.1 million, $.9 million and $.6 million, respectively.

Shipping and handling Costs related to shipping and handling are included in cost of revenue.

Revenue recognition Revenue is recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred or

services have been rendered, the fee is fixed or determinable, and collectibility is probable.

Revenue from hardware sales with standard payment terms is recognized upon the passage of title and the transfer of risk

of loss. Outside the United States, the company recognizes revenue even if it retains a form of title to products delivered to

customers, provided the sole purpose is to enable the company to recover the products in the event of customer payment

default and the arrangement does not prohibit the customer’s use of the product in the ordinary course of business.

Revenue from software licenses with standard payment terms is recognized at the inception of the initial license term and

upon execution of an extension to the license term.

The company also enters into multiple-element arrangements, which may include any combination of hardware, software or

services. For example, a client may purchase an enterprise server that includes operating system software. In addition, the

arrangement may include post-contract support for the software and a contract for post-warranty maintenance for service of

the hardware. These arrangements consist of multiple deliverables, with hardware and software delivered in one reporting

period and the software support and hardware maintenance services delivered across multiple reporting periods. In another

example, the company may provide desktop managed services to a client on a long term multiple year basis and periodically

sell hardware and software products to the client. The services are provided on a continuous basis across multiple reporting
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periods and the hardware and software products are delivered in one reporting period. To the extent that a deliverable in a

multiple-deliverable arrangement is subject to specific guidance, that deliverable is accounted for in accordance with such

specific guidance. Examples of such arrangements may include leased hardware which is subject to specific leasing

guidance or software which is subject to specific software revenue recognition guidance.

In these transactions, the company allocates the total revenue to be earned under the arrangement among the various

elements based on a selling price hierarchy. The selling price for a deliverable is based on its vendor specific objective

evidence (VSOE) if available, third party evidence (TPE) if VSOE is not available, or the best estimated selling price (ESP) if

neither VSOE nor TPE is available. VSOE of selling price is based upon the normal pricing and discounting practices for those

products and services when sold separately. TPE of selling price is based on evaluating largely similar and interchangeable

competitor products or services in standalone sales to similarly situated customers. ESP is established considering factors

such as margin objectives, discounts off of list prices, market conditions, competition and other factors. ESP represents the

price at which the company would transact for the deliverable if it were sold by the company regularly on a standalone basis.

For multiple-element arrangements that involve the licensing, selling or leasing of software, for software and software-related

elements, the allocation of revenue is based on VSOE. There may be cases in which there is VSOE of selling price of the

undelivered elements but no such evidence for the delivered elements. In these cases, the residual method is used to

allocate the arrangement consideration. Under the residual method, the amount of consideration allocated to the delivered

elements equals the total arrangement consideration less the aggregate VSOE of selling price of the undelivered elements.

For multiple-element arrangements for products or services that (a) do not include the licensing, selling or leasing of

software, or (b) contain software that is incidental to the products or services as a whole or (c) contain software components

that are sold, licensed or leased with tangible products when the software components and non-software components (i.e.,

the hardware and software) of the tangible product function together to deliver the tangible product’s essential functionality

(e.g., sales of the company’s enterprise-class servers including hardware and software), the allocation of revenue is based

on the relative selling prices of each of the deliverables in the arrangement based on the selling price hierarchy, discussed

above.

The company recognizes revenue on delivered elements only if: (a) any undelivered products or services are not essential to

the functionality of the delivered products or services, (b) the company has an enforceable claim to receive the amount due

in the event it does not deliver the undelivered products or services, (c) there is evidence of the selling price for each

undelivered products or services, and (d) the revenue recognition criteria otherwise have been met for the delivered

elements. Otherwise, revenue on delivered elements is recognized as the undelivered elements are delivered.

The company evaluates each deliverable in an arrangement to determine whether it represents a separate unit of

accounting. A delivered element constitutes a separate unit of accounting when it has standalone value and there is no

customer-negotiated refund or return right for the delivered elements. If these criteria are not met, the deliverable is

combined with the undelivered elements and the allocation of the arrangement consideration and revenue recognition are

determined for the combined unit as a single unit.

Revenue from hardware sales and software licenses with extended payment terms is recognized as payments from

customers become due (assuming that all other conditions for revenue recognition have been satisfied).

Revenue for operating leases is recognized on a monthly basis over the term of the lease and for sales-type leases at the

inception of the lease term.

Revenue from equipment and software maintenance and post-contract support is recognized on a straight-line basis as

earned over the terms of the respective contracts. Cost related to such contracts is recognized as incurred.

Revenue and profit under systems integration contracts are recognized either on the percentage-of-completion method of

accounting using the cost-to-cost method, or when services have been performed, depending on the nature of the project.

For contracts accounted for on the percentage-of-completion basis, revenue and profit recognized in any given accounting

period are based on estimates of total projected contract costs. The estimates are continually reevaluated and revised,
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when necessary, throughout the life of a contract. Any adjustments to revenue and profit resulting from changes in

estimates are accounted for in the period of the change in estimate. When estimates indicate that a loss will be incurred on

a contract upon completion, a provision for the expected loss is recorded in the period in which the loss becomes evident.

Revenue from time and materials service contracts and outsourcing contracts is recognized as the services are provided

using either an objective measure of output or on a straight-line basis over the term of the contract.

Income taxes Income taxes are based on income before taxes for financial reporting purposes and reflect a current tax

liability for the estimated taxes payable in the current-year tax return and changes in deferred taxes. Deferred tax assets or

liabilities are determined based on differences between financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and are

measured using enacted tax laws and rates. A valuation allowance is provided on deferred tax assets if it is determined that

it is more likely than not that the asset will not be realized. The company has elected the policy of not providing for intra-

period tax allocations between pretax earnings and other comprehensive income in instances where there is no net tax

provision. This determination is made for each tax jurisdiction.

The company recognizes penalties and interest accrued related to income tax liabilities in provision for income taxes in its

consolidated statements of income.

Marketable software The cost of development of computer software to be sold or leased, incurred subsequent to

establishment of technological feasibility, is capitalized and amortized to cost of sales over the estimated revenue-producing

lives of the products, but not in excess of three years following product release. The company performs quarterly reviews to

ensure that unamortized costs remain recoverable from future revenue.

Internal-use software The company capitalizes certain internal and external costs incurred to acquire or create internal-use

software, principally related to software coding, designing system interfaces, and installation and testing of the software.

These costs are amortized in accordance with the fixed asset policy described above.

Outsourcing assets Costs on outsourcing contracts are generally expensed as incurred. However, certain costs incurred

upon initiation of an outsourcing contract are deferred and expensed over the initial contract life. These costs consist

principally of initial customer setup and employment obligations related to employees hired under terms of the outsourcing

contracts. Additionally, marketable software development costs incurred to develop specific application software for

outsourcing are capitalized once technological feasibility has been established. Capitalized software used in outsourcing

arrangements is amortized based on current and estimated future revenue from the product. The amortization expense is

not less than straight-line amortization expense over the product’s useful life. Fixed assets acquired in connection with

outsourcing contracts are capitalized and depreciated over the shorter of the initial contract life or in accordance with the

fixed asset policy described above.

Recoverability of outsourcing assets is subject to various business risks, including the timely completion and ultimate cost of

the outsourcing solution, realization of expected profitability of existing outsourcing contracts and obtaining additional

outsourcing customers. The company quarterly compares the carrying value of the outsourcing assets with the undiscounted

future cash flows expected to be generated by the outsourcing assets to determine if there is impairment. If impaired, the

outsourcing assets are reduced to an estimated fair value on a discounted cash flow basis. The company prepares its cash

flow estimates based on assumptions that it believes to be reasonable but are also inherently uncertain. Actual future cash

flows could differ from these estimates.

Translation of foreign currency The local currency is the functional currency for most of the company’s international

subsidiaries, and as such, assets and liabilities are translated into U.S. dollars at year-end exchange rates. Income and

expense items are translated at average exchange rates during the year. Translation adjustments resulting from changes in

exchange rates are reported in other comprehensive income (loss). Exchange gains and losses on intercompany balances

are reported in other income (expense), net.
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For those international subsidiaries operating in highly inflationary economies, the U.S. dollar is the functional currency, and

as such, nonmonetary assets and liabilities are translated at historical exchange rates, and monetary assets and liabilities

are translated at current exchange rates. Exchange gains and losses arising from translation are included in other income

(expense), net.

Stock-based compensation plans Stock-based compensation represents the cost related to stock-based awards granted to

employees and directors. The company recognizes compensation expense for the fair value of stock options, which have

graded vesting, on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period. The company estimates the fair value of stock

options using a Black-Scholes valuation model. The expense is recorded in selling, general and administrative expenses.

Retirement benefits Accounting rules covering defined benefit pension plans and other postretirement benefits require that

amounts recognized in financial statements be determined on an actuarial basis. A significant element in determining the

company’s retirement benefits expense or income is the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets. This expected

return is an assumption as to the average rate of earnings expected on the funds invested or to be invested to provide for

the benefits included in the projected pension benefit obligation. The company applies this assumed long-term rate of return

to a calculated value of plan assets, which recognizes changes in the fair value of plan assets in a systematic manner over

four years. This produces the expected return on plan assets that is included in retirement benefits expense or income. The

difference between this expected return and the actual return on plan assets is deferred. The net deferral of past asset

losses or gains affects the calculated value of plan assets and, ultimately, future retirement benefits expense or income.

At December 31 of each year, the company determines the fair value of its retirement benefits plan assets as well as the

discount rate to be used to calculate the present value of plan liabilities. The discount rate is an estimate of the interest

rate at which the retirement benefits could be effectively settled. In estimating the discount rate, the company looks to rates

of return on high-quality, fixed-income investments currently available and expected to be available during the period to

maturity of the retirement benefits. The company uses a portfolio of fixed-income securities, which receive at least the

second-highest rating given by a recognized ratings agency.

Fair value measurements Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a

liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. When determining fair value

measurements for assets and liabilities required to be recorded at fair value, the company assumes that the transaction is

an orderly transaction that assumes exposure to the market for a period before the measurement date to allow for

marketing activities that are usual and customary for transactions involving such assets or liabilities; it is not a forced

transaction (for example, a forced liquidation or distress sale). The fair value hierarchy has three levels of inputs that may be

used to measure fair value: Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the

company can access at the measurement date; Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices within Level 1 that are observable

for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and Level 3 – Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. The company

has applied fair value measurements to its long-term debt (see note 9), derivatives (see note 12) and to its postretirement

plan assets (see note 16).
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2. Earnings per common share

The following table shows how the earnings per common share attributable to Unisys Corporation were computed for the

three years ended December 31, 2012.

Year ended December 31 (millions, except per share data) 2012 2011 2010

Basic earnings per common share computation
Net income from continuing operations attributable to Unisys Corporation common stockholders $ 129.4 $ 120.5 $ 158.9

Income from discontinued operations, net of tax – – 77.2

Net income attributable to Unisys Corporation common stockholders $ 129.4 $ 120.5 $ 236.1

Weighted average shares (thousands) 43,864 43,145 42,562

Basic earnings per common share

Continuing operations $ 2.95 $ 2.79 $ 3.74

Discontinued operations – – 1.81

Total $ 2.95 $ 2.79 $ 5.55

Diluted earnings per common share computation

Net income from continuing operations attributable to Unisys Corporation common shareholders $ 129.4 $ 120.5 $ 158.9

Add preferred stock dividends 16.2 13.5 –

Net income from continuing operations attributable to Unisys Corporation for diluted earnings per
share 145.6 134.0 158.9

Income from discontinued operations, net of tax – – 77.2

Net income attributable to Unisys Corporation for diluted earnings per share $ 145.6 $ 134.0 $ 236.1

Weighted average shares (thousands) 43,864 43,145 42,562

Plus incremental shares from assumed conversions

Employee stock plans 439 553 771

Preferred stock 6,913 5,780 –

Adjusted weighted average shares 51,216 49,478 43,333

Diluted earnings per common share
Continuing operations $ 2.84 $ 2.71 $ 3.67

Discontinued operations – – 1.78

Total $ 2.84 $ 2.71 $ 5.45

In 2012, 2011 and 2010, the following weighted-average number of stock options and restricted stock units were antidilutive

and therefore excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per common share (in thousands): 2,261; 2,119; and

2,545, respectively.

3. Discontinued operations and sale of businesses

On April 30, 2010, the company completed the sale of its health information management (HIM) business, and on

August 31, 2010, the company completed the sale of its UK-based Unisys Insurance Services Limited (UISL) business, which

provided business process outsourcing (BPO) services to the UK life and pensions industry. In 2010, the company received

net proceeds of $117.2 million related to the sale of HIM, UISL and the U.S. specialized technology check sorter equipment

and related U.S. maintenance business (discussed below). In connection with the sale of UISL, the company paid

$19.3 million during 2011.

The results of discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2010 was as follows (in millions of dollars):

(millions) Total HIM* UISL**

Revenue $94.6 $42.0 $52.6

Income
Operations $ 8.2 $10.0 $(1.8)

Gain on sale 69.0 64.5 4.5

77.2 74.5 2.7

Income tax provision – – –

Income from discontinued operations, net of tax $77.2 $74.5 $ 2.7

* Includes results of operations through the April 30, 2010 closing date.
** Includes results of operations through the August 31, 2010 closing date.
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On February 1, 2010, the company completed the sale of its U.S. specialized technology check sorter equipment and related

U.S. maintenance business. In 2009, the company reported an asset impairment related to this business of $13.4 million.

In 2010, the company recorded a loss on the sale of approximately $3.3 million, principally as a result of closing date

working capital and other adjustments.

On March 30, 2012, the company completed the sale of its interest in its South African joint venture. A pretax gain of

$10.6 million has been reported as a reduction of selling, general and administrative expense in the company’s

consolidated statement of income. Going forward, the company will serve this market through a distributor. The joint venture,

which had operations in both of the company’s reporting segments of Services and Technology, generated full year 2011

revenue and pretax income of $39.9 million and $7.9 million, respectively.

4. Goodwill

Goodwill is reviewed annually for impairment and whenever events or circumstances occur indicating that goodwill may be

impaired. The company performed its annual impairment test in the fourth quarter of 2012, which indicated that goodwill

was not impaired.

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by segment for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 were as follows:

(millions) Total Services Technology

Balance at December 31, 2010 $197.9 $86.9 $111.0
Transferred to assets held for sale (1.3) – (1.3)

Translation adjustments (4.1) (2.7) (1.4)

Balance at December 31, 2011 192.5 84.2 108.3

Translation adjustments (.2) (.6) .4

Balance at December 31, 2012 $192.3 $83.6 $108.7

5. Recent accounting pronouncements and accounting changes

Effective January 1, 2012, the company adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) authoritative guidance that

amends previous guidance for the presentation of comprehensive income. The new standard eliminated the option to

present other comprehensive income in the statement of changes in equity. Under the revised guidance, an entity has the

option to present the components of net income and other comprehensive income in either a single continuous statement

of comprehensive income or in two separate but consecutive financial statements. The company is providing two separate

but consecutive financial statements. The new standard was required to be applied retrospectively. Other than the change in

presentation, the adoption of the new standard did not have an impact on the company’s consolidated financial statements.

Effective January 1, 2012, the company adopted FASB authoritative guidance that amends previous guidance for fair value

measurement and disclosure requirements. The revised guidance changes certain fair value measurement principles,

clarifies the application of existing fair value measurements and expands the disclosure requirements, particularly for Level 3

fair value measurements. Adoption of the amendments did not have a material impact on the company’s consolidated

financial statements.

Effective January 1, 2011, the company adopted two accounting standards issued by the FASB that amended revenue

recognition guidance. The first standard supersedes certain prior accounting guidance and requires an entity to allocate

arrangement consideration at the inception of an arrangement to all of its deliverables based on their relative standalone

selling prices (i.e., the relative-selling-price method). The standard eliminated the use of the residual method of allocation

and requires the relative-selling-price method in all circumstances in which an entity recognizes revenue for an arrangement

with multiple deliverables subject to this standard. The second standard amended prior software revenue recognition

accounting guidance by excluding from the scope of such prior guidance tangible products that contain both software

elements and non-software elements that function together to deliver the tangible product’s essential functionality. The

company adopted the new standards prospectively for revenue arrangements entered into or materially modified on or after

January 1, 2011. In certain of the company’s arrangements, revenue was previously deferred for certain deliverables
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included in multiple element arrangements where the arrangements also included undelivered services for which the

company was unable to demonstrate fair value pursuant to previous standards. The new standards required deliverables for

which revenue was previously deferred to be separated and recognized as delivered, rather than combined with undelivered

items and recognized over the longest service delivery period. If the new standards were applied to transactions entered into

or materially modified in the year ended December 31, 2010, it would not have resulted in a material change to the

company’s reported revenue for 2010.

6. Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable consist principally of trade accounts receivable from customers and are generally unsecured and due

within 30 days. Credit losses relating to these receivables consistently have been within management’s expectations.

Expected credit losses are recorded as an allowance for doubtful accounts in the consolidated balance sheets. Estimates of

expected credit losses are based primarily on the aging of the accounts receivable balances. The company records a

specific reserve for individual accounts when it becomes aware of a customer’s inability to meet its financial obligations,

such as in the case of bankruptcy filings or deterioration in the customer’s operating results or financial position. The

collection policies and procedures of the company vary by credit class and prior payment history of customers.

Revenue recognized in excess of billings on services contracts, or unbilled accounts receivable, was $150.0 million and

$153.5 million at December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. Such amounts, a portion of which are awaiting resolution of

contract disputes, are included in accounts and notes receivable, net and are stated at net realizable value.

Unearned income, which is deducted from accounts and notes receivable, was $4.4 million and $4.1 million at

December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. The allowance for doubtful accounts, which is reported as a deduction from

accounts and notes receivable, was $28.8 million and $35.3 million at December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. The

provision for doubtful accounts, which is reported in selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated

statements of income, was (income) expense of $(2.7) million, $(.6) million and $(.9) million, in 2012, 2011 and 2010,

respectively.

7. Income taxes

Following is the total income from continuing operations before income taxes and the continuing operations provision for

income taxes for the three years ended December 31, 2012.

Year ended December 31 (millions) 2012 2011 2010

Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes
United States $ 32.5 $(20.4) $ 37.4
Foreign 221.6 226.4 185.5

Total income from continuing operations before income taxes $254.1 $206.0 $222.9

Continuing operations provision for income taxes
Current

United States $ 3.6 $ 2.8 $ 8.7
Foreign 66.5 43.8 75.4
State and local – .2 .3

Total 70.1 46.8 84.4

Deferred
Foreign 27.2 18.0 (25.6)

Total continuing operations provision for income taxes $ 97.3 $ 64.8 $ 58.8
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Following is a reconciliation of the provision for income taxes at the United States statutory tax rate to the continuing

operations provision for income taxes as reported:

Year ended December 31 (millions) 2012 2011 2010

United States statutory income tax provision $ 88.9 $ 72.1 $ 78.0
Income and losses for which no provision or benefit has been recognized 7.0 21.8 (3.0)
Foreign rate differential and other foreign tax expense (32.2) (16.8) (41.5)
Income tax withholdings 20.3 16.7 22.6
Permanent items 4.0 4.2 4.3
Foreign currency devaluation – – 5.7
Enacted rate changes 9.0 8.4 4.1
Change in uncertain tax positions 4.5 6.1 1.0
Change in valuation allowances due to changes in judgment – (15.2) (13.2)
Income tax credits, U.S. (4.0) (4.2) .4
Tax audit matters – (28.3) .1

Other (.2) – .3

Continuing operations provision for income taxes $ 97.3 $ 64.8 $ 58.8

The 2012 and 2011 provision for income taxes includes $9.2 million and $8.4 million, respectively due to a reduction in the

UK income tax rate. The rate reductions were enacted in the third quarters of 2012 and 2011, and reduced the rate from

27% to 26% effective April 1, 2011, to 24% effective April 1, 2012 and to 23% effective April 1, 2013. The tax provisions

were caused by a write down of the UK net deferred tax assets. In addition, the 2011 provision for income taxes includes a

benefit of $28.3 million related to the settlement of two European tax matters.

The tax effects of temporary differences and carryforwards that give rise to significant portions of deferred tax assets and

liabilities at December 31, 2012 and 2011 were as follows:

December 31 (millions) 2012 2011

Deferred tax assets
Tax loss carryforwards $ 914.9 $ 800.6
Postretirement benefits 905.4 787.1
Foreign tax credit carryforwards 564.3 553.3
Capitalized research and development 149.6 267.4
Other tax credit carryforwards 116.8 144.2
Deferred revenue 76.1 91.0
Employee benefits and compensation 55.9 54.3
Purchased capitalized software 43.7 46.0
Depreciation 34.8 38.6
Capitalized costs 16.5 17.3
Warranty, bad debts and other reserves 15.1 18.4
Debt related – 8.8
Other 30.0 22.9

2,923.1 2,849.9
Valuation allowance (2,731.8) (2,648.5)

Total deferred tax assets $ 191.3 $ 201.4

Deferred tax liabilities
Other $ 25.6 $ 27.1

Total deferred tax liabilities $ 25.6 $ 27.1

Net deferred tax assets $ 165.7 $ 174.3

At December 31, 2012, the company has U.S. Federal ($385.3 million), state and local ($275.8 million), and foreign

($253.8 million) tax loss carryforwards, the total tax effect of which is $914.9 million. These carryforwards will expire as

follows (in millions): 2013, $5.4; 2014, $7.6; 2015, $12.3; 2016, $9.4; 2017, $419.5; and $460.7 thereafter. The

company also has available tax credit carryforwards of approximately $681.1 million, which will expire as follows (in millions):

2013, $46.4; 2014, $23.4; 2015, $22.3; 2016, $32.1; 2017, $179.8; and $377.1 thereafter.
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Failure to achieve forecasted taxable income might affect the ultimate realization of the company’s net deferred tax assets.

Factors that may affect the company’s ability to achieve sufficient forecasted taxable income include, but are not limited to,

the following: increased competition, a decline in sales or margins, loss of market share, the impact of the economic

environment, delays in product availability and technological obsolescence.

Cumulative undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries, for which no U.S. income or foreign withholding taxes have been

recorded, approximated $1,008 million at December 31, 2012. As the company currently intends to indefinitely reinvest all

such earnings, no provision has been made for income taxes that may become payable upon distribution of such earnings,

and it is not practicable to determine the amount of the related unrecognized deferred income tax liability.

Cash paid for income taxes, net of refunds, during 2012, 2011 and 2010 was $39.9 million, $74.9 million and $52.7

million, respectively.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:

Year ended December 31 (millions) 2012 2011 2010

Balance at January 1 $24.3 $19.5 $ 4.0
Additions based on tax positions related to the current year 3.5 6.0 13.9
Changes for tax positions of prior years 1.4 – 2.1
Reductions as a result of a lapse of applicable statute of limitations (.4) – (.1)
Settlements (.7) (1.2) (.4)
Changes due to foreign currency 1.1 – –

Balance at December 31 $29.2 $24.3 $19.5

The company recognizes penalties and interest accrued related to income tax liabilities in the provision for income taxes in

its consolidated statements of income. At December 31, 2012 and 2011, the company had an accrual of $2.0 million and

$1.0 million, respectively, for the payment of penalties and interest.

At December 31, 2012, all of the company’s liability for unrecognized tax benefits, if recognized, would affect the company’s

effective tax rate. Within the next 12 months, the company believes that it is reasonably possible that the amount of

unrecognized tax benefits may significantly change; however, various events could cause this belief to change in the future.

The company and its subsidiaries file income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, and various states and foreign

jurisdictions. The company’s U.S. federal income return is under audit for 2010. Several U.S. state and foreign income tax

audits are in process. The company is under an audit in India, for which years prior to 2006 are closed. In the fourth quarter

of 2012, the company resolved an audit of its Australian subsidiary. The company remains open to examination in Australia

from 2009 forward. There are currently no income tax audits in process in either Brazil or the United Kingdom, which are the

most significant jurisdictions outside the U.S. For both Brazil and the United Kingdom, the audit period through 2008 is

closed. All of the various ongoing income tax audits throughout the world are not expected to have a material impact on the

company’s financial position.

Internal Revenue Code Sections 382 and 383 provide annual limitations with respect to the ability of a corporation to utilize

its net operating loss (as well as certain built-in losses) and tax credit carryforwards, respectively (Tax Attributes), against

future U.S. taxable income, if the corporation experiences an “ownership change.” In general terms, an ownership change

may result from transactions increasing the ownership of certain stockholders in the stock of a corporation by more than 50

percentage points over a three-year period. The company regularly monitors ownership changes (as calculated for purposes

of Section 382). The company has determined that, for purposes of the rules of Section 382 described above, an ownership

change occurred in February 2011. Any future transaction or transactions and the timing of such transaction or transactions

could trigger additional ownership changes under Section 382.

As a result of the ownership change, utilization of the company’s Tax Attributes will be subject to an estimated overall

annual limitation determined in part by multiplying the total adjusted aggregate market value of the company’s common

stock immediately preceding the ownership change (approximately $1.6 billion) by the applicable long-term tax-exempt rate

(4.47% for February 2011), subject to increase or decrease based on the built-in gain or built-in loss, if any, in the
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company’s assets at the time of the ownership change. Any unused annual limitation may be carried over to later years.

Future U.S. taxable income may not be fully offset by existing Tax Attributes, if such income exceeds the company’s annual

limitation. However, based on presently available information and the existence of tax planning strategies, currently the

company does not expect to incur a U.S. cash tax liability in the near term. The company maintains a full valuation allowance

against the realization of all U.S. deferred tax assets as well as certain foreign deferred tax assets in excess of deferred tax

liabilities.

8. Properties

Properties comprise the following:

December 31 (millions) 2012 2011

Land $ 3.3 $ 3.3
Buildings 79.0 76.8
Machinery and office equipment 765.4 760.3
Internal-use software 321.5 315.7
Rental equipment 93.0 101.1

Total properties $1,262.2 $1,257.2

9. Debt

Long-term debt is comprised of the following:

December 31 (millions) 2012 2011

6.25% senior notes due 2017 $210.0 $ –
123⁄4% senior secured notes – 186.2
121⁄2% senior notes – 150.6
141⁄4% senior secured notes – 25.5

Other .3 (2.6)

Total 210.3 359.7

Less – current maturities .3 .9

Total long-term debt $210.0 $358.8

Total long-term debt maturities in 2013, 2014, 2015, 2016 and 2017 are $.3 million, $ .0 million, $.0 million, $.0 million

and $210.0 million, respectively.

Cash paid for interest during 2012, 2011 and 2010 was $42.5 million, $82.8 million and $111.9 million, respectively.

Capitalized interest expense during 2012, 2011 and 2010 was $5.3 million, $4.9 million and $9.1 million, respectively.

On August 21, 2012, the company issued $210 million of 6.25% senior notes due 2017. During 2012, the company retired

an aggregate principal amount of $362.3 million of its long-term debt, comprised of all of the remaining $186.2 million of its

12.75% senior secured notes due 2014, all of the remaining $25.5 million of its 141⁄4% senior secured notes due 2015 and

all of the remaining $150.6 million of its 12.50% senior notes due 2016. The company used cash on hand and the net

proceeds from the issuance of the 6.25% senior notes due 2017 to fund the retirement of this debt. During 2011, the

company retired an aggregate principal amount of $477.9 million of long-term debt which was funded by the sale of

mandatory convertible preferred stock (see note 17) and cash on hand. As a result of these retirements, the company

recognized charges in “Other income (expense), net” of $30.6 million ($26.6 million of premium paid and $4.0 million for

the write off of unamortized discounts, issuance costs and gain related to the portion of the notes retired) and $85.2 million

($77.8 million of premium paid and $7.4 million for the write off of unamortized discounts, issuance costs and gain related

to the portion of the notes retired) in 2012 and 2011, respectively.

In June 2011, the company entered into a five-year secured revolving credit facility which provides for loans and letters of

credit up to an aggregate amount of $150 million (with a limit on letters of credit of $100 million). Borrowing limits under the

credit agreement are based upon the amount of eligible U.S. accounts receivable. At December 31, 2012, the company had

no borrowings and $26.3 million of letters of credit outstanding under the facility. At December 31, 2012, availability under

the facility was $94.7 million net of letters of credit issued. Borrowings under the facility will bear interest based on short-
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term rates. The credit agreement contains customary representations and warranties, including that there has been no

material adverse change in the company’s business, properties, operations or financial condition. It also contains financial

covenants requiring the company to maintain a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio and, if the company’s consolidated

cash plus availability under the credit facility falls below $130 million, a maximum secured leverage ratio. The credit

agreement allows the company to pay dividends on its preferred stock unless the company is in default and to, among other

things, repurchase its equity, prepay other debt, incur other debt or liens, dispose of assets and make acquisitions, loans

and investments, provided the company complies with certain requirements and limitations set forth in the agreement.

Events of default include non-payment, failure to comply with covenants, materially incorrect representations and warranties,

change of control and default under other debt aggregating at least $50 million. The credit facility is guaranteed by Unisys

Holding Corporation, Unisys NPL, Inc. and any future material domestic subsidiaries. The facility is secured by the assets of

Unisys Corporation and the subsidiary guarantors, other than certain excluded assets. The company may elect to prepay or

terminate the credit facility without penalty.

At December 31, 2012, the company has met all covenants and conditions under its various lending agreements. The

company expects to continue to meet these covenants and conditions.

The company’s principal sources of liquidity are cash on hand, cash from operations and its revolving credit facility,

discussed above. The company and certain international subsidiaries have access to uncommitted lines of credit from

various banks.

The company’s anticipated future cash expenditures include anticipated contributions to its defined benefit pension plans.

The company believes that it has adequate sources of liquidity to meet its expected 2013 cash requirements.

10. Other liabilities

Other accrued liabilities (current) are comprised of the following:

December 31 (millions) 2012 2011

Payrolls and commissions $128.7 $120.9
Accrued vacations 70.2 70.4
Taxes other than income taxes 48.4 49.8
Income taxes 47.8 28.8
Postretirement 26.8 28.7
Accrued interest 4.7 14.6
Other 85.3 112.3

Total other accrued liabilities $411.9 $425.5

11. Rental expense and commitments

Rental expense, less income from subleases, for 2012, 2011 and 2010 was $84.7 million, $97.9 million and

$100.4 million, respectively. Income from subleases, for 2012, 2011 and 2010 was $8.5 million, $9.8 million and

$11.2 million, respectively.

Minimum net rental commitments under noncancelable operating leases, including idle leases, outstanding at

December 31, 2012, substantially all of which relate to real properties, were as follows: 2013, $65.7 million; 2014,

$56.8 million; 2015, $44.9 million; 2016, $31.8 million; 2017, $25.6 million; and $46.4 million thereafter. Such rental

commitments have been reduced by minimum sublease rentals of $32.2 million, due in the future under noncancelable

subleases. Included in the net rental commitments at December 31, 2012 is $8.1 million related to idle leases.

At December 31, 2012, the company had outstanding standby letters of credit and surety bonds of approximately

$324 million related to performance and payment guarantees. On the basis of experience with these arrangements, the

company believes that any obligations that may arise will not be material. In addition, at December 31, 2012, the company

had deposits and collateral of approximately $45 million in other long-term assets, principally related to collateralized letters

of credit, and to tax and labor contingencies in Brazil.
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12. Financial instruments and concentration of credit risks

Due to its foreign operations, the company is exposed to the effects of foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations on the

U.S. dollar, principally related to intercompany account balances. The company uses derivative financial instruments to

reduce its exposure to market risks from changes in foreign currency exchange rates on such balances. The company enters

into foreign exchange forward contracts, generally having maturities of one month, which have not been designated as

hedging instruments. At December 31, 2012 and 2011, the notional amount of these contracts was $434.1 million and

$130.9 million, respectively and the fair value of such contracts was a net loss of $.9 million and a net gain of $.8 million,

respectively, of which a gain of $1.1 million and $.9 million, respectively, has been recognized in “Prepaid expenses and other

current assets” and a loss of $2.0 million and $.1 million, respectively, has been recognized in “Other accrued liabilities.”

Changes in the fair value of these instruments was a loss of $.4 million, a gain of $3.3 million and a gain of $.6 million,

respectively, for years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, which has been recognized in earnings in “Other income

(expense), net” in the company’s consolidated statement of income. The fair value of these forward contracts is based on

quoted prices for similar but not identical financial instruments; as such, the inputs are considered Level 2 inputs.

Financial instruments also include temporary cash investments and customer accounts receivable. Temporary investments

are placed with creditworthy financial institutions, primarily in money market funds, time deposits and certificate of deposits

which may be withdrawn at any time at the discretion of the company without penalty. At December 31, 2012 and 2011, the

company’s cash equivalents principally have maturities of less than one month or can be withdrawn at any time at the

discretion of the company without penalty. Due to the short maturities of these instruments, they are carried on the

consolidated balance sheets at cost plus accrued interest, which approximates market value. Realized gains or losses

during 2012, 2011 and 2010, as well as unrealized gains or losses at December 31, 2012 and 2011, were immaterial.

Receivables are due from a large number of customers that are dispersed worldwide across many industries. At

December 31, 2012 and 2011, the company had no significant concentrations of credit risk with any one customer. At

December 31, 2012 and 2011, the company had approximately $110 million and $140 million, respectively, of receivables

due from various U.S. federal governmental agencies. At December 31, 2012 and 2011, the carrying amount of cash and

cash equivalents approximated fair value; and the carrying amount of long-term debt was less than the fair value, which is

based on market prices (Level 2 inputs), of such debt by approximately $15 million and $37 million, respectively.

13. Foreign currency translation

Due to recent year’s inflation rates, the company’s Venezuelan subsidiary has applied highly inflationary accounting

beginning January 1, 2010. For those international subsidiaries operating in highly inflationary economies, the U.S. dollar is

the functional currency, and as such, nonmonetary assets and liabilities are translated at historical exchange rates, and

monetary assets and liabilities are translated at current exchange rates. Exchange gains and losses arising from translation

are included in other income (expense), net. Effective January 11, 2010, the Venezuelan government devalued the Bolivar

Fuerte by 50 percent by resetting the official exchange rate from 2.15 to the U.S. dollar to 4.30 to the U.S. dollar. As a

result, the company recorded a foreign exchange loss in the first quarter of 2010 of approximately $20 million. The company

has used and continues to use the official exchange rate for translation purposes. At December 31, 2012, the company’s

operations in Venezuela had net monetary assets denominated in local currency of approximately $20 million. Effective

February 13, 2013, the Venezuelan government devalued its currency (Bolivar Fuerte) by resetting the official exchange rate

from 4.30 to the U.S. dollar to 6.30 to the U.S. dollar. As a result, the company expects to record a pretax foreign exchange

loss in the first quarter of 2013 of approximately $7 million.

During the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, the company recognized foreign exchange gains (losses) in “Other

income (expense), net” in its consolidated statements of income of $(8.1) million, $17.2 million and $(43.4) million, respectively.

14. Litigation and contingencies

There are various lawsuits, claims, investigations and proceedings that have been brought or asserted against the company,

which arise in the ordinary course of business, including actions with respect to commercial and government contracts, labor

and employment, employee benefits, environmental matters, intellectual property, and non-income tax and employment
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compensation in Brazil. The company records a provision for these matters when it is both probable that a liability has been

incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. Any provisions are reviewed at least quarterly and are

adjusted to reflect the impact and status of settlements, rulings, advice of counsel and other information and events

pertinent to a particular matter.

The company believes that it has valid defenses with respect to legal matters pending against it. Based on its experience,

the company also believes that the damage amounts claimed in the lawsuits disclosed below are not a meaningful indicator

of the company’s potential liability. Litigation is inherently unpredictable, however, and it is possible that the company’s

results of operations or cash flow could be materially affected in any particular period by the resolution of one or more of the

legal matters pending against it.

The company had a competitively awarded contract with the Transportation Security Administration (TSA) that provided for

the establishment of secure information technology environments in airports. The Civil Division of the Department of Justice,

working with the Inspector General’s Office of the Department of Homeland Security, has reviewed issues relating to labor

categorization and overtime on the TSA contract. The company has now begun the process of contract settlement

discussions with TSA regarding the labor categorization and overtime issues. The Civil Division is still reviewing issues

relating to cyber intrusion protection under the TSA and a follow-on contract. The company is working cooperatively with TSA

and the Civil Division on these cyber issues. The company cannot now predict the duration or outcome of these matters.

In April 2007, the Ministry of Justice of Belgium sued Unisys Belgium SA-NV, a Unisys subsidiary (Unisys Belgium), in the

Court of First Instance of Brussels. The Belgian government had engaged the company to design and develop software for a

computerized system to be used to manage the Belgian court system. The Belgian State terminated the contract and in its

lawsuit has alleged that the termination was justified because Unisys Belgium failed to deliver satisfactory software in a

timely manner. It claims damages of approximately 28 million Euros. Unisys Belgium has filed its defense and counterclaim

in the amount of approximately 18.5 million Euros. The company believes it has valid defenses to the claims and contends

that the Belgian State’s termination of the contract was unjustified.

In December 2007, Lufthansa AG sued Unisys Deutschland GmbH, a Unisys subsidiary (Unisys Germany), in the District

Court of Frankfurt, Germany, for allegedly failing to perform properly its obligations during the initial phase of a 2004 software

design and development contract relating to a Lufthansa customer loyalty program. Under the contract, either party was free

to withdraw from the project at the conclusion of the initial design phase. Rather than withdraw, Lufthansa instead

terminated the contract and failed to pay the balance owed to Unisys Germany for the initial phase. Lufthansa’s lawsuit

alleges that Unisys Germany breached the contract by failing to deliver a proper design for the new system and seeks

approximately 21.4 million Euros in damages. The company believes it has valid defenses and has filed its defense and a

counterclaim in the amount of approximately 1.5 million Euros. The litigation is proceeding.

The company’s Brazilian operations, along with those of many other companies doing business in Brazil, are involved in

various litigation matters, including numerous governmental assessments related to indirect and other taxes, as well as

disputes associated with former employees and contract labor. The tax-related matters pertain to value added taxes,

customs, duties, sales and other non-income related tax exposures. The labor-related matters include claims related to

compensation matters. The company believes that appropriate accruals have been established for such matters based on

information currently available. At December 31, 2012, excluding those matters that have been assessed by management

as being remote as to the likelihood of ultimately resulting in a loss, the amount related to unreserved tax-related matters,

inclusive of any related interest, is estimated to be up to approximately $135 million.

The company is involved in two matters arising from the sale of its Health Information Management (HIM) business to Molina

Information Systems, LLC (Molina) under a 2010 Asset Purchase Agreement (APA). The HIM business provided system

solutions and services to state governments, including the States of Maine and Idaho, for administering Medicaid programs. In

November 2012, Molina advised the company that Maine has demanded payment of about $32 million from Molina for a

six month project delay in the implementation of Maine’s new Medicaid management system. Under the indemnity provision in

the APA, the company has accepted a partial indemnity obligation and undertaken the defense of the matter. The company
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believes there are valid defenses to the allegations made by Maine. In August 2012, Molina sued the company in Federal

District Court in Delaware alleging breaches of contract, negligent misrepresentation and intentional misrepresentation with

respect to the APA and the Medicaid contract with Idaho. Molina seeks compensatory damages, punitive damages, lost profits,

indemnification, and declaratory relief. Molina alleges losses of approximately $35 million in the complaint. The company

believes it has valid defenses to the claims in the complaint and will vigorously litigate this matter.

With respect to the specific legal proceedings and claims described above, except as otherwise noted, either (i) the amount

or range of possible losses in excess of amounts accrued, if any, is not reasonably estimable or (ii) the company believes

that the amount or range of possible losses in excess of amounts accrued that are estimable would not be material.

Litigation is inherently unpredictable and unfavorable resolutions could occur. Accordingly, it is possible that an adverse

outcome from such matters could exceed the amounts accrued in an amount that could be material to the company’s

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows in any particular reporting period.

Notwithstanding that the ultimate results of the lawsuits, claims, investigations and proceedings that have been brought or

asserted against the company are not currently determinable, the company believes that at December 31, 2012, it has

adequate provisions for any such matters.

15. Segment information

The company has two business segments: Services and Technology. The products and services of each segment are

marketed throughout the world to commercial businesses and governments. Revenue classifications by segment are as

follows: Services – systems integration and consulting, outsourcing, infrastructure services and core maintenance;

Technology – enterprise-class software and servers and other technology.

The accounting policies of each business segment are the same as those described in the summary of significant

accounting policies. Intersegment sales and transfers are priced as if the sales or transfers were to third parties.

Accordingly, the Technology segment recognizes intersegment revenue and manufacturing profit on hardware and software

shipments to customers under Services contracts. The Services segment, in turn, recognizes customer revenue and

marketing profit on such shipments of company hardware and software to customers. The Services segment also includes

hardware and software products sourced from third parties that are sold to customers through the company’s Services

channels. In the company’s consolidated statements of income, the manufacturing costs of products sourced from the

Technology segment and sold to Services customers are reported in cost of revenue for Services.

Also included in the Technology segment’s sales and operating profit are sales of hardware and software sold to the

Services segment for internal use in Services engagements. The amount of such profit included in operating income of the

Technology segment for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, was $11.5 million, $8.2 million and

$7.2 million, respectively. The profit on these transactions is eliminated in Corporate.

The company evaluates business segment performance on operating income exclusive of pension income or expense,

restructuring charges and unusual and nonrecurring items, which are included in Corporate. All other corporate and centrally

incurred costs are allocated to the business segments based principally on revenue, employees, square footage or usage.

The changes in Corporate and eliminations operating income are principally due to increases in pension expense.

No single customer accounts for more than 10% of revenue. Revenue from various agencies of the U.S. Government, which

is reported in both business segments, was approximately $523 million, $652 million and $842 million in 2012, 2011 and

2010, respectively.

Corporate assets are principally cash and cash equivalents, prepaid postretirement assets and deferred income taxes. The

expense or income related to corporate assets is allocated to the business segments.
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Customer revenue by classes of similar products or services, by segment, is presented below:

Year ended December 31 (millions) 2012 2011 2010

Services

Systems integration and consulting $1,079.3 $1,164.7 $1,223.1

Outsourcing 1,475.5 1,487.2 1,531.3

Infrastructure services 442.4 487.0 472.4

Core maintenance 195.2 215.7 230.6

3,192.4 3,354.6 3,457.4

Technology

Enterprise-class software and servers 480.3 443.9 462.5

Other technology 33.7 55.3 99.7

514.0 499.2 562.2

Total $3,706.4 $3,853.8 $4,019.6

Presented below is a reconciliation of segment operating income to consolidated income from continuing operations before

income taxes:

Year ended December 31 (millions) 2012 2011 2010

Total segment operating income $414.3 $360.1 $ 373.8
Interest expense (27.5) (63.1) (101.8)
Other income (expense), net (37.6) (55.5) (51.0)
Corporate and eliminations (95.1) (35.5) 1.9

Total income from continuing operations before income taxes $254.1 $206.0 $ 222.9

Presented below is a reconciliation of total business segment assets to consolidated assets:

December 31 (millions) 2012 2011 2010

Total segment assets $1,469.1 $1,555.9 $1,778.2
Cash and cash equivalents 655.6 714.9 828.3
Deferred income taxes 184.3 208.6 220.3
Prepaid postretirement assets 3.3 43.9 31.2
Other corporate assets 108.1 88.9 162.9

Total assets $2,420.4 $2,612.2 $3,020.9
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A summary of the company’s operations by business segment for 2012, 2011 and 2010 is presented below:

(millions) Total Corporate Services Technology

2012
Customer revenue $3,706.4 $ 3,192.4 $ 514.0
Intersegment $ (123.1) 3.8 119.3

Total revenue $3,706.4 $ (123.1) $ 3,196.2 $ 633.3

Operating income $ 319.2 $ (95.1) $ 204.6 $ 209.7
Depreciation and amortization 174.6 102.4 72.2
Total assets 2,420.4 951.3 1,085.9 383.2
Capital expenditures 132.6 3.7 64.7 64.2

2011
Customer revenue $3,853.8 $ 3,354.6 $ 499.2
Intersegment $ (102.6) 6.3 96.3

Total revenue $3,853.8 $ (102.6) $ 3,360.9 $ 595.5

Operating income $ 324.6 $ (35.5) $ 231.8 $ 128.3
Depreciation and amortization 194.8 116.4 78.4
Total assets 2,612.2 1,056.3 1,164.7 391.2
Capital expenditures 134.4 9.8 65.2 59.4

2010
Customer revenue $4,019.6 $ 3,457.4 $ 562.2
Intersegment $ (116.6) 5.9 110.7

Total revenue $4,019.6 $ (116.6) $ 3,463.3 $ 672.9

Operating income $ 375.7 $ 1.9 $ 231.6 $ 142.2
Depreciation and amortization 250.6 191.4 59.2
Total assets 3,020.9 1,242.7 1,359.9 418.3
Capital expenditures 203.1 12.0 125.3 65.8

Geographic information about the company’s revenue, which is principally based on location of the selling organization,

properties and outsourcing assets, is presented below:

Year ended December 31 (millions) 2012 2011 2010

Revenue
United States $1,455.0 $1,577.9 $1,733.1
United Kingdom 496.9 408.7 426.2
Other foreign 1,754.5 1,867.2 1,860.3

Total $3,706.4 $3,853.8 $4,019.6

Properties, net
United States $ 112.7 $ 127.1 $ 142.8
United Kingdom 23.1 22.1 23.1
Other foreign 40.6 42.1 53.8

Total $ 176.4 $ 191.3 $ 219.7

Outsourcing assets, net
United States $ 67.1 $ 61.5 $ 69.6
United Kingdom 30.3 37.3 31.9
Other foreign 28.9 39.1 60.8

Total $ 126.3 $ 137.9 $ 162.3
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16. Employee plans

Stock plans Under stockholder approved stock-based plans, stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock and

restricted stock units may be granted to officers, directors and other key employees. At December 31, 2012, 4.1 million

shares of unissued common stock of the company were available for granting under these plans.

As of December 31, 2012, the company has granted non-qualified stock options and restricted stock units under these

plans. The company recognizes compensation cost net of a forfeiture rate in selling, general and administrative expenses,

and recognizes the compensation cost for only those awards expected to vest. The company estimates the forfeiture rate

based on its historical experience and its expectations about future forfeitures.

The company’s employee stock option and time-based restricted stock unit grants include a provision that if termination of

employment occurs after the participant has attained age 55 and completed 5 years of service with the company, the

participant shall continue to vest in each of his or her awards in accordance with the vesting schedule set forth in the

applicable award agreement. Compensation expense for such awards is recognized over the period to the date the employee

first becomes eligible for retirement. Time-based restricted stock unit grants for the company’s directors vest upon award

and compensation expense for such awards is recognized upon grant.

Options have been granted to purchase the company’s common stock at an exercise price equal to or greater than the fair

market value at the date of grant, generally have a maximum duration of five years and become exercisable in annual

installments over a three-year period following date of grant.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, the company recognized $14.3 million, $13.9 million and

$9.4 million of share-based compensation expense, which is comprised of $5.4 million, $4.9 million and $3.9 million of

restricted stock unit expense and $8.9 million, $9.0 million and $5.5 million of stock option expense, respectively.

For stock options, the fair value is estimated at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option pricing model. Principal

assumptions used are as follows: (a) expected volatility for the company’s stock price is based on historical volatility and

implied market volatility, (b) historical exercise data is used to estimate the options’ expected term, which represents the

period of time that the options granted are expected to be outstanding, and (c) the risk-free interest rate is the rate on zero-

coupon U.S. government issues with a remaining term equal to the expected life of the options. The company recognizes

compensation expense for the fair value of stock options, which have graded vesting, on the straight-line basis over the

requisite service period of the awards. The compensation expense recognized as of any date must be at least equal to the

portion of the grant-date fair value that is vested at that date.

The fair value of stock option awards was estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following

assumptions and weighted-average fair values as follows:

Year Ended December 31 2012 2011 2010

Weighted-average fair value of grant $ 9.73 $ 20.10 $ 17.83
Risk-free interest rate .54% 1.71% 1.74%
Expected volatility 71.29% 71.31% 72.20%
Expected life of options in years 3.65 3.62 3.63
Expected dividend yield – – –
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A summary of stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2012 follows (shares in thousands):

Options Shares

Weighted-
Average
Exercise

Price

Weighted-
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Term
(years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value ($ in
millions)

Outstanding at December 31, 2011 2,707 $ 56.81
Granted 685 19.48
Exercised (67) 6.03
Forfeited and expired (559) 121.66

Outstanding at December 31, 2012 2,766 35.50 2.36 $ 5.9
Expected to vest at December 31, 2012 1,186 27.64 3.52 –
Exercisable at December 31, 2012 1,548 41.79 1.44 $ 5.9

The aggregate intrinsic value represents the total pretax value of the difference between the company’s closing stock price

on the last trading day of the period and the exercise price of the options, multiplied by the number of in-the-money stock

options that would have been received by the option holders had all option holders exercised their options on December 31,

2012. The intrinsic value of the company’s stock options changes based on the closing price of the company’s stock. The

total intrinsic value of options exercised for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 was $.9 million, $4.4

million and $5.9 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2012, $5.8 million of total unrecognized compensation cost

related to stock options is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.3 years.

Restricted stock unit awards may contain time-based units, performance-based units or a combination of both. Each

performance-based unit will vest into zero to 1.5 shares depending on the degree to which the performance goals are met.

Compensation expense resulting from these awards is recognized as expense ratably for each installment from the date of

grant until the date the restrictions lapse and is based on the fair market value at the date of grant and the probability of

achievement of the specific performance-related goals.

A summary of restricted stock unit activity for the year ended December 31, 2012 follows (shares in thousands):

Restricted
Stock Units

Weighted-Average
Grant-Date Fair

Value

Outstanding at December 31, 2011 384 $32.39
Granted 171 19.39
Vested (171) 24.21
Forfeited and expired (23) 26.67

Outstanding at December 31, 2012 361 25.12

The fair value of restricted stock units is determined based on the trading price of the company’s common shares on the

date of grant. The aggregate weighted-average grant-date fair value of restricted stock units granted during the years ended

December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 was $3.3 million, $11.3 million and $7.7 million, respectively. As of December 31,

2012, there was $2.9 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to outstanding restricted stock units granted

under the company’s plans. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.8 years. The

aggregate weighted-average grant-date fair value of restricted share units vested during the years ended December 31,

2012, 2011 and 2010 was $4.1 million, $5.7 million and $4.2 million, respectively.

Common stock issued upon exercise of stock options or upon lapse of restrictions on restricted stock units is newly issued

shares. Cash received from the exercise of stock options was $.4 million and $1.4 million for the years ended

December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. During 2012 and 2011, the company did not recognize any tax benefits from

the exercise of stock options or upon issuance of stock upon lapse of restrictions on restricted stock units because of its

tax position. Any such tax benefits resulting from tax deductions in excess of the compensation costs recognized are

classified as financing cash flows.
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Defined contribution and compensation plans U.S. employees are eligible to participate in an employee savings plan. Under

this plan, employees may contribute a percentage of their pay for investment in various investment alternatives. Effective

January 1, 2011, the company reinstated a company match to the U.S. employee savings plan, which had been suspended

effective January 1, 2009. The company matches 50 percent of the first 6 percent of eligible pay contributed by participants

to the plan on a before-tax basis (subject to IRS limits). In 2012, the company funded the match with a combination of cash

and company common stock. In 2011, the company funded the match entirely with the company’s common stock. The

charge to income related to the company match for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, was

$12.1 million, $12.5 million and zero, respectively.

The company has defined contribution plans in certain locations outside the United States. The charge to income related to

these plans was $30.0 million, $33.7 million and $28.7 million, for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010,

respectively.

The company has non-qualified compensation plans, which allow certain highly compensated employees and directors to

defer the receipt of a portion of their salary, bonus and fees. Participants can earn a return on their deferred balance that is

based on hypothetical investments in various investment vehicles. Changes in the market value of these investments are

reflected as an adjustment to the liability with an offset to expense. As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the liability to the

participants of these plans was $11.5 million and $12.0 million, respectively. These amounts reflect the accumulated

participant deferrals and earnings thereon as of that date. The company makes no contributions to the deferred

compensation plans and remains contingently liable to the participants.

Retirement benefits For the company’s more significant defined benefit pension plans, including the U.S. and the U.K.,

accrual of future benefits under the plans has ceased.
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Retirement plans’ funded status and amounts recognized in the company’s consolidated balance sheets at December 31,

2012 and 2011 follow:

U.S. Plans International Plans

December 31 (millions) 2012 2011 2012 2011

Change in projected benefit obligation

Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 5,154.8 $ 4,862.6 $2,560.1 $2,450.6

Service cost – – 8.6 10.7

Interest cost 252.9 264.0 113.1 126.4

Plan participants’ contributions – – 3.0 3.4

Plan amendment – – (13.2) –

Plan curtailment – – (5.7) (6.0)

Actuarial loss 585.2 373.7 279.8 94.8

Benefits paid (346.1) (345.5) (100.2) (90.9)

Foreign currency translation adjustments – – 99.9 (28.9)

Benefit obligation at end of year $ 5,646.8 $ 5,154.8 $2,945.4 $2,560.1

Change in plan assets

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $ 3,558.7 $ 3,899.9 $2,115.8 $2,066.0

Actual return on plan assets 455.7 (3.1) 211.4 87.9

Employer contribution 118.4 7.4 83.1 75.3

Plan participants’ contributions – – 3.0 3.4

Benefits paid (346.1) (345.5) (100.2) (90.9)

Foreign currency translation adjustments – – 86.1 (25.9)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year $ 3,786.7 $ 3,558.7 $2,399.2 $2,115.8

Funded status at end of year $(1,860.1) $(1,596.1) $ (546.2) $ (444.3)

Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets consist of:

Prepaid postretirement assets $ – $ – $ 2.5 $ 43.2

Other accrued liabilities (7.3) (7.3) (.2) (.2)

Long-term postretirement liabilities (1,852.8) (1,588.8) (548.5) (487.3)

Total funded status $(1,860.1) $(1,596.1) $ (546.2) $ (444.3)

Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax

Net loss $ 3,201.9 $ 2,910.8 $ 856.9 $ 679.6

Prior service cost (credit) $ 2.1 $ 2.8 $ (11.9) $ (1.4)

Accumulated benefit obligation $ 5,646.8 $ 5,154.8 $2,934.2 $2,527.8

Information for defined benefit retirement plans with an accumulated benefit obligation in excess of plan assets at

December 31, 2012 and 2011 follows:

December 31 (millions) 2012 2011

Accumulated benefit obligation $7,645.6 $7,279.4

Fair value of plan assets 5,247.8 5,201.1

Information for defined benefit retirement plans with a projected benefit obligation in excess of plan assets at December 31,

2012 and 2011 follows:

December 31 (millions) 2012 2011

Projected benefit obligation $8,167.4 $7,301.8

Fair value of plan assets 5,758.7 5,218.2
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Net periodic pension cost (income) for 2012, 2011 and 2010 includes the following components:

U.S. Plans International Plans

Year ended December 31 (millions) 2012 2011 2010 2012 2011 2010

Service cost $ – $ – $ – $ 8.6 $ 10.7 $ 14.5

Interest cost 252.9 264.0 276.4 113.1 126.4 119.7

Expected return on plan assets (285.7) (337.4) (365.0) (136.1) (135.3) (129.5)

Amortization of prior service cost .7 .7 .7 (.5) (.1) –

Recognized net actuarial loss 124.0 78.5 54.3 36.9 26.8 26.0

Curtailment gain – – – (5.7) – –

Net periodic pension cost (income) $ 91.9 $ 5.8 $ (33.6) $ 16.3 $ 28.5 $ 30.7

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic pension cost for the years ended December 31 were as

follows:

Discount rate 4.96% 5.68% 6.11% 4.65% 5.32% 5.30%

Rate of compensation increase N/A N/A N/A 2.66% 2.93% 3.04%

Expected long-term rate of return on assets 8.00% 8.75% 8.75% 6.59% 6.57% 6.63%

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations at December 31 were as follows:

Discount rate 4.01% 4.96% 5.68% 3.92% 4.65% 5.32%

Rate of compensation increase N/A N/A N/A 2.06% 2.66% 2.93%

The expected pretax amortization in 2013 of net periodic pension cost is as follows: net loss, $192.4 million; and prior

service credit, $(.9) million. The amortization of these items is recorded as an element of pension expense. In 2012,

pension expense included amortization of $160.9 million of net losses and $.2 million of prior service cost.

The company’s investment policy targets and ranges for each asset category are as follows:

U.S. Int’l.

Asset Category Target Range Target Range

Equity securities 58% 52-64% 37% 31-43%

Debt securities 36% 33-39% 56% 49-62%

Real estate 6% 3-9% 1% 0-3%

Cash 0% 0-5% 1% 0-5%

Other 0% 0% 5% 0-10%

The company periodically reviews its asset allocation, taking into consideration plan liabilities, local regulatory requirements,

plan payment streams and then-current capital market assumptions. The actual asset allocation for each plan is monitored

at least quarterly, relative to the established policy targets and ranges. If the actual asset allocation is close to or out of any

of the ranges, a review is conducted. Rebalancing will occur toward the target allocation, with due consideration given to the

liquidity of the investments and transaction costs.

The objectives of the company’s investment strategies are as follows: (a) to provide a total return that, over the long term,

increases the ratio of plan assets to liabilities by maximizing investment return on assets, at a level of risk deemed

appropriate, (b) to maximize return on assets by investing primarily in equity securities in the U.S. and for international plans

by investing in appropriate asset classes, subject to the constraints of each plan design and local regulations, (c) to diversify

investments within asset classes to reduce the impact of losses in single investments, and (d) for the U.S. plan to invest in

compliance with the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (ERISA), as amended and any subsequent applicable

regulations and laws, and for international plans to invest in a prudent manner in compliance with local applicable

regulations and laws.
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The company sets the expected long-term rate of return based on the expected long-term return of the various asset

categories in which it invests. The company considered the current expectations for future returns and the actual historical

returns of each asset class. Also, since the company’s investment policy is to actively manage certain asset classes where

the potential exists to outperform the broader market, the expected returns for those asset classes were adjusted to reflect

the expected additional returns.

In 2013, the company expects to make cash contributions of $146.3 million to its worldwide defined benefit pension plans,

which is comprised of $111.8 million primarily for non-U.S. defined benefit pension plans and $34.5 million for the

company’s U.S. qualified defined benefit pension plan.

As of December 31, 2012, the following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service where applicable, are

expected to be paid from the defined benefit pension plans:

Year ending December 31 (millions) U.S. Int’l.

2013 $ 363.0 $105.8

2014 362.2 103.7

2015 361.7 106.8

2016 361.9 110.1

2017 362.2 113.1

2018 - 2022 1,800.6 607.9
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Other postretirement benefits A reconciliation of the benefit obligation, fair value of the plan assets and the funded status

of the postretirement benefit plan at December 31, 2012 and 2011, follows:

December 31 (millions) 2012 2011

Change in accumulated benefit obligation

Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 177.6 $ 168.5

Service cost .5 .4

Interest cost 8.7 10.0

Plan participants’ contributions 5.3 5.7

Actuarial loss (gain) 10.0 6.5

Federal drug subsidy 2.9 3.0

Benefits paid (25.7) (27.5)

Foreign currency translation and other adjustments 1.2 11.0

Benefit obligation at end of year $ 180.5 $ 177.6

Change in plan assets

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $ 9.3 $ 9.0

Actual return on plan assets .4 .2

Employer contributions 20.4 21.9

Plan participants’ contributions 5.3 5.7

Benefits paid (25.7) (27.5)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year $ 9.7 $ 9.3

Funded status at end of year $(170.8) $(168.3)

Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets consist of:

Prepaid postretirement assets $ .8 $ .7

Other accrued liabilities (19.3) (21.2)

Long-term postretirement liabilities (152.3) (147.8)

Total funded status $(170.8) $(168.3)

Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax

Net loss $ 52.2 $ 44.7

Prior service cost 4.8 6.6

Net periodic postretirement benefit cost for 2012, 2011 and 2010, follows:

Year ended December 31 (millions) 2012 2011 2010

Service cost $ .5 $ .4 $ .4

Interest cost 8.7 10.0 10.7

Expected return on assets (.5) (.5) (.5)

Amortization of prior service cost 1.8 1.8 1.4

Recognized net actuarial loss 3.2 4.2 3.7

Net periodic benefit cost $ 13.7 $ 15.9 $ 15.7

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic postretirement benefit cost for the years
ended December 31 were as follows:

Discount rate 5.84% 6.42% 6.62%

Expected return on plan assets 6.75% 6.75% 6.75%

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine benefit obligation at December 31 were as follows:

Discount rate 5.15% 5.84% 6.42%
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The expected pretax amortization in 2013 of net periodic postretirement benefit cost is as follows: net loss, $5.5 million;

and prior service cost, $1.8 million.

The company reviews its asset allocation periodically, taking into consideration plan liabilities, plan payment streams and

then-current capital market assumptions. The company sets the long-term expected return on asset assumption, based

principally on the long-term expected return on debt securities. These return assumptions are based on a combination of

current market conditions, capital market expectations of third-party investment advisors and actual historical returns of the

asset classes.

In 2013, the company expects to contribute approximately $20 million to its postretirement benefit plan.

Assumed health care cost trend rates at December 31 2012 2011

Health care cost trend rate assumed for next year 6.6% 7.3%

Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to decline (the ultimate trend rate) 4.8% 5.0%

Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate 2023 2017

A one-percentage-point change in assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following effects (in millions of

dollars):

1-Percentage-
Point

Increase

1-Percentage-
Point

Decrease

Effect on service and interest cost $ .3 $ (.2)

Effect on postretirement benefit obligation 4.4 (5.6)

As of December 31, 2012, the following benefits are expected to be paid to or from the company’s postretirement plan:

Year ending December 31 (millions)

Gross
Medicare

Part D
Receipts

Gross
Expected
Payments

2013 $2.0 $24.6

2014 1.9 21.9

2015 1.7 21.6

2016 1.6 20.7

2017 1.4 19.8

2018 - 2022 3.8 60.6

The following provides a description of the valuation methodologies and the levels of inputs used to measure fair value, and

the general classification of investments in the company’s U.S. and international defined benefit pension plans, and the

company’s other postretirement benefit plan.

Level 1 – These investments include cash, common stocks, real estate investment trusts, exchange traded funds, exchange

traded futures, and U.S. and U.K. government securities. These investments are valued using quoted prices in an active

market. Payables and receivables are also included as Level 1 investments and are valued at face value.

Level 2 – These investments include the following:

Pooled Funds – These investments are comprised of money market funds and fixed income securities. The money market

funds are valued at Net Asset Value (NAV) of shares held by the plans at year-end. NAV is a practical expedient for fair value.

The NAV is based on the value of the underlying assets owned by the fund, minus its liabilities, divided by the number of

units outstanding. The fixed income securities are valued based on quoted prices for identical or similar investments in

markets that may not be active.

Commingled Funds – These investments are comprised of debt, equity and other securities and are valued using the NAV

provided by trustees of the funds. The NAV is quoted on a private market that is not active. The unit price is based on

underlying investments which are traded on markets that may or may not be active.
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Other Fixed Income – These investments are comprised of corporate and government fixed income investments and asset

and mortgage backed securities for which there are quoted prices for identical or similar investments in markets that may

not be active.

Derivatives – These investments include forward exchange contracts and options, which are traded on an active market, but

not on an exchange; therefore, the inputs may not be readily observable. These investments also include fixed income

futures and other derivative instruments.

Level 3 – These investments include the following:

Real Estate and Private Equity – These investments represent interests in limited partnerships which invest in privately held

companies or privately held real estate assets. Due to the nature of these investments, pricing inputs are not readily

observable. Asset valuations are developed by the general partners that manage the partnerships. These valuations are

based on property appraisals, utilization of market transactions that provide valuation information for comparable

companies, discounted cash flows, and other methods. These valuations are reported quarterly and adjusted as necessary

at year end based on cash flows within the most recent period.

Insurance Contracts – These investments are insurance contracts which are generally invested in fixed income securities.

The insurance contracts are carried at book value and adjusted to fair value based on a market value adjustment (MVA)

formula determined by the insurance provider. The MVA formula is based on unobservable inputs, which among other items

take into consideration the yield earned by contributions during a specified time period, current bond yields and duration.

Similar to bonds, as interest rates rise, the market value of the contracts will decrease and as interest rates decline, the

market value will increase.

Commingled Funds – These investments are commingled funds, which include a fund of hedge funds, and a multi-asset

fund. The NAV is quoted on a private market that is not active. The unit price is based on underlying investments, which are

valued based on unobservable inputs.

The following table sets forth by level, within the fair value hierarchy, the plans’ assets (liabilities) at fair value at

December 31, 2012.

U.S. Plans International Plans

December 31, 2012 (millions) Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Pension plans
Equity Securities

Common Stocks $1,760.8 $1,760.8 $ 1.9 $ 1.9
Commingled Funds 426.1 $ 426.1 885.8 $ 885.8

Debt Securities
U.S. and U.K. Govt. Securities 145.9 145.9
Other Fixed Income 983.9 983.9 264.0 264.0
Insurance Contracts 90.9 $ 90.9 146.7 $146.7
Commingled Funds 886.8 886.8

Real Estate
Real Estate Investment Trusts 134.4 134.4 .9 .9
Real Estate 34.8 34.8 31.1 31.1

Other
Derivatives (5.2) (3.5) (1.7) 35.4 35.4
Private Equity 20.8 20.8
Commingled Funds 91.3 91.3 130.2 72.1 58.1

Pooled Funds 190.2 190.2 1.7 1.7
Cash 4.8 4.8 14.7 14.7
Receivables 47.9 47.9
Payables (139.9) (139.9)

Total $3,786.7 $1,950.4 $1,689.8 $146.5 $2,399.2 $17.5 $2,145.8 $235.9
Other postretirement plans
Insurance Contracts $ 7.9 $ 7.9
Exchange Traded Fund – Bond 1.4 $ 1.4
Pooled Funds .4 $ .4

Total $ 9.7 $ 1.4 $ .4 $ 7.9
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The following table sets forth by level, within the fair value hierarchy, the plans’ assets (liabilities) at fair value at

December 31, 2011.

U.S. Plans International Plans

December 31, 2011 (millions) Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Pension plans
Equity Securities

Common Stocks $1,627.2 $1,627.2 $ 4.9 $ 4.9
Commingled Funds 394.2 $ 394.2 783.4 $ 783.4

Debt Securities
U.S. and U.K. Govt. Securities 170.0 170.0
Other Fixed Income 929.7 929.7 242.5 242.5
Insurance Contracts 79.6 $ 79.6 145.5 $145.5
Commingled Funds 799.9 799.9

Real Estate
Real Estate Investment Trusts 99.8 99.8 .4 .4
Real Estate 33.7 33.7 29.0 29.0

Other
Derivatives 10.4 3.9 6.5 24.7 24.7
Private Equity 45.6 45.6
Commingled Funds 83.6 83.6 60.4 49.9 10.5

Pooled Funds 165.5 165.5 3.7 3.7
Cash .3 .3 21.4 21.4
Receivables 86.9 86.9
Payables (167.8) (167.8)

Total $3,558.7 $1,820.3 $1,579.5 $158.9 $2,115.8 $26.7 $1,904.1 $185.0

Other postretirement plans
Insurance Contracts $ 7.5 $ 7.5
Exchange Traded Fund – Bond 1.4 $ 1.4
Pooled Funds .4 $ .4

Total $ 9.3 $ 1.4 $ .4 $ 7.5

The following table sets forth a summary of changes in the fair value of the plans’ Level 3 assets for the year ended

December 31, 2012.

(millions)
January 1,

2012

Realized
gains

(losses)

Purchases
or

acquisitions

Sales
or

dispositions

Currency and
unrealized

gains (losses)
relating to

instruments
still held at

December 31,
2012

December 31,
2012

U.S. plans
Pension plan
Real Estate $ 33.7 $ .3 $ (1.2) $ 2.0 $ 34.8
Private Equity 45.6 7.3 $ .3 (26.7) (5.7) 20.8
Insurance Contracts 79.6 – 7.6 – 3.7 90.9

Total $158.9 $7.6 $ 7.9 $(27.9) $ – $146.5

Other postretirement plans
Insurance Contracts $ 7.5 $ .4 $ .3 $ (.3) $ 7.9

International pension plans
Insurance Contracts $145.5 $ 5.5 $(12.1) $ 7.8 $146.7
Real Estate 29.0 .4 – 1.7 31.1
Commingled Funds 10.5 41.7 (.2) 6.1 58.1

Total $185.0 $47.6 $(12.3) $15.6 $235.9

53



The following table sets forth a summary of changes in the fair value of the plans’ Level 3 assets for the year ended

December 31, 2011.

(millions)
January 1,

2011

Realized
gains

(losses)

Purchases
or

acquisitions

Sales
or

dispositions

Currency and
unrealized

gains (losses)
relating to

instruments
still held at

December 31,
2011

December 31,
2011

U.S. plans
Pension plan
Real Estate $ 32.1 $ .3 $ (1.3) $ 2.6 $ 33.7
Private Equity 56.9 10.0 (27.3) 6.0 45.6
Insurance Contracts 70.3 – $7.7 – 1.6 79.6

Total $159.3 $10.3 $7.7 $(28.6) $10.2 $158.9

Other postretirement plans
Insurance Contracts $ 7.4 $ .1 $ .5 $ (.5) $ 7.5

International pension plans
Insurance Contracts $152.6 $4.9 $(11.8) $ (.2) $145.5
Real Estate 28.1 1.1 (.7) .5 29.0
Commingled Funds 9.2 1.3 (.2) .2 10.5

Total $189.9 $7.3 $(12.7) $ .5 $185.0

17. Stockholders’ equity

The company has 100 million authorized shares of common stock, par value $.01 per share, and 40 million shares of

authorized preferred stock, par value $1 per share, issuable in series.

At December 31, 2012, 20.5 million shares of unissued common stock of the company were reserved for stock-based

incentive plans and convertible preferred stock.

On February 28, 2011, the company sold 2,587,500 shares of 6.25% mandatory convertible preferred stock for net

proceeds of $249.7 million. Each share of mandatory convertible preferred stock will automatically convert on March 1,

2014 into between 2.1899 and 2.6717 shares of the company’s common stock, subject to adjustment, depending on the

volume weighted average price per share of the company’s common stock over the 20 consecutive trading days ending on

the third trading day immediately preceding the mandatory conversion date. At any time prior to March 1, 2014, holders may

elect to convert all or a portion of their shares of the mandatory convertible preferred stock at the minimum conversion rate

of 2.1899 shares of the company’s common stock, subject to adjustment.

The company pays dividends on each share of the mandatory convertible preferred stock on a cumulative basis at an annual

rate of 6.25% on the initial liquidation preference of $100 per share (equivalent to $6.25 per year per share). Dividends

accrue and accumulate from the date of issuance and, to the extent the company has lawfully available funds to pay

dividends and the company’s Board of Directors or an authorized committee of the Board of Directors declares a dividend

payable, the company will pay dividends on March 1, June 1, September 1 and December 1 of each year prior to March 1,

2014 in cash and on March 1, 2014 or any earlier conversion date in cash, shares of the company’s common stock, or a

combination thereof, at the company’s election. The annualized dividend on the mandatory convertible preferred stock is

approximately $16.2 million until conversion.

In December 2012, the company’s Board of Directors authorized the company to purchase up to an aggregate of $50 million

of the company’s common stock and mandatory convertible preferred stock through December 31, 2014. Under the

authorization, the company can repurchase shares in the open market, which may include the use of 10b5-1 plans, or

through privately negotiated transactions. The timing of repurchases, if any, will depend upon several factors, including

market and business conditions. Share repurchases may be suspended or discontinued at any time. As of December 31,

2012, no shares have been purchased.
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Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) as of December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, is as follows:

(millions) Total
Translation

Adjustments
Postretirement

Plans

Balance at December 31, 2009 $(3,013.5) $ (629.9) $ (2,383.6)
Change during period 85.2 25.7 59.5

Balance at December 31, 2010 (2,928.3) (604.2) (2,324.1)
Change during period (772.6) (44.9) (727.7)

Balance at December 31, 2011 (3,700.9) (649.1) (3,051.8)
Change during period (432.7) 14.8 (447.5)

Balance at December 31, 2012 $(4,133.6) $ (634.3) $ (3,499.3)

The following table summarizes the changes in preferred stock, common stock and treasury stock during the three years

ended December 31, 2012:

(millions)
Preferred

Stock
Common

Stock
Treasury

Stock

Balance at December 31, 2009 – 42.5 .2
Stock-based compensation – .4 .1

Balance at December 31, 2010 – 42.9 .3
Stock-based compensation – .9 –
Sale of preferred stock 2.6 – –

Balance at December 31, 2011 2.6 43.8 .3
Stock-based compensation – .5 .1

Balance at December 31, 2012 2.6 44.3 .4
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Report of Management on the Financial Statements

The management of the company is responsible for the integrity of its financial statements. These statements have been

prepared in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles and include amounts based on the best estimates

and judgments of management. Financial information included elsewhere in this report is consistent with that in the financial

statements.

KPMG LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, has audited the company’s financial statements. Its

accompanying report is based on an audit conducted in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting

Oversight Board (United States).

The Board of Directors, through its Audit Committee, which is composed entirely of independent directors, oversees

management’s responsibilities in the preparation of the financial statements and selects the independent registered public

accounting firm, subject to stockholder ratification. The Audit Committee meets regularly with the independent registered

public accounting firm, representatives of management, and the internal auditors to review the activities of each and to

assure that each is properly discharging its responsibilities. To ensure complete independence, the internal auditors and

representatives of KPMG LLP have full access to meet with the Audit Committee, with or without management

representatives present, to discuss the results of their audits and their observations on the adequacy of internal controls

and the quality of financial reporting.

J. Edward Coleman Janet Brutschea Haugen
Chairman of the Board and Senior Vice President and
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders

Unisys Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Unisys Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31,

2012 and 2011, and the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, deficit and cash flows for each

of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2012. We also have audited Unisys Corporation’s internal control

over financial reporting as of December 31, 2012, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework

issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Unisys Corporation’s

management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over

financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the

accompanying Report of Management on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion

on these consolidated financial statements and an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based

on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United

States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the

financial statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was

maintained in all material respects. Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included examining, on a test basis,

evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and

significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Our audit of

internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting,

assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of

internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered

necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the

reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures

that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and

dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to

permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts

and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of

the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition,

use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,

projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate

because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial

position of Unisys Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the results of their operations and

their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2012, in conformity with U.S. generally

accepted accounting principles. Also in our opinion, Unisys Corporation maintained, in all material respects, effective internal

control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2012, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated

Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania

February 22, 2013
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Report of Management on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The management of the company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial

reporting, as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act. The company’s internal control over financial

reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the

preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records

that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company;

(2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of the financial

statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the

company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and

(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of

the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,

projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate

because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies and procedures may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,

2012, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this assessment, we concluded that the company maintained

effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2012, based on the specified criteria.

KPMG LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, has audited the company’s internal control over financial

reporting as of December 31, 2012, as stated in their report that appears on the preceding page.

J. Edward Coleman Janet Brutschea Haugen

Chairman of the Board and Senior Vice President and

Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
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Unisys Corporation
Supplemental Financial Data (Unaudited)

Quarterly financial information

(millions, except per share data)
First

Quarter
Second
Quarter

Third
Quarter

Fourth
Quarter Year

2012

Revenue $ 928.4 $ 921.3 $ 877.4 $979.3 $3,706.4

Gross profit 225.8 243.2 218.6 285.9 973.5

Income before income taxes 41.9 75.2 27.6 109.4 254.1

Net income (loss) attributable to Unisys Corporation common
shareholders 13.4 46.6 (12.4) 81.8 129.4

Earnings (loss) per common share attributable to Unisys Corporation

Basic .31 1.06 (.28) 1.86 2.95

Diluted .30 .99 (.28) 1.67 2.84

Market price per share – high 21.74 20.98 22.87 22.28 22.87

– low 17.50 14.40 16.25 15.04 14.40

2011

Revenue $ 911.2 $ 937.2 $1,020.1 $985.3 $3,853.8

Gross profit 208.2 213.7 284.8 280.3 987.0

Income (loss) before income taxes (7.8) (14.6) 117.1 111.3 206.0

Net income (loss) attributable to Unisys Corporation common
shareholders (40.8) (11.6) 78.6 94.3 120.5

Earnings (loss) per common share attributable to Unisys Corporation

Basic (.95) (.27) 1.82 2.17 2.79

Diluted (.95) (.27) 1.63 1.94 2.71

Market price per share – high 41.32 33.14 26.86 27.43 41.32

– low 25.33 24.05 15.00 13.77 13.77

In the first, second and third quarters of 2012, the company recorded pretax losses on debt extinguishment of $7.2 million, $.3 million ,and $23.1 million,
respectively.
In the first, second, third and fourth quarters of 2011, the company recorded pretax losses on debt extinguishment of $31.8 million, $45.7 million,
$.1 million, and $7.6 million, respectively.
The individual quarterly per-share amounts may not total to the per-share amount for the full year because of accounting rules governing the computation of
earnings per share.
Market prices per share are as quoted on the New York Stock Exchange composite listing.
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Five-year summary of selected financial data

(dollars in millions, except per share data) 2012(1) 2011(1) 2010 2009 2008(2)

Results of operations

Revenue $ 3,706.4 $ 3,853.8 $4,019.6 $ 4,385.7 $ 4,954.9

Operating income 319.2 324.6 375.7 330.0 2.1

Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes 254.1 206.0 222.9 218.2 (97.6)

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests 11.2 7.2 5.2 3.7 12.4

Net income (loss) attributable to Unisys Corporation common
shareholders 129.4 120.5 236.1 189.3 (130.1)

Earnings (loss) per common share from continuing operations

Basic 2.95 2.79 3.74 4.38 (4.20)

Diluted 2.84 2.71 3.67 4.32 (4.20)

Financial position

Total assets $ 2,420.4 $ 2,612.2 $3,020.9 $ 2,956.9 $ 2,824.1

Long-term debt 210.0 358.8 823.2 845.9 1,059.1

Deficit (1,588.7) (1,311.0) (933.8) (1,271.7) (1,423.8)

Other data

Capital additions of properties $ 40.1 $ 42.2 $ 64.1 $ 45.9 $ 76.9

Capital additions of outsourcing assets 36.1 40.5 83.2 97.8 133.1

Investment in marketable software 56.4 51.7 55.8 57.6 84.5

Depreciation and amortization

Properties 54.7 66.4 75.8 96.9 105.7

Outsourcing assets 57.9 62.7 111.9 151.0 162.6

Amortization of marketable software 62.0 65.7 62.9 104.6 149.7

Common shares outstanding (millions) 44.0 43.4 42.6 42.3 37.0

Stockholders of record (thousands) 17.0 18.6 19.1 19.9 20.6

Employees (thousands) 22.8 22.7 22.9 25.6 29.0

(1) Includes pretax losses on debt extinguishment of $30.6 million and $85.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.
(2) Includes pretax cost-reduction and other charges of $103.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2008.
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Reconciliation of Selected GAAP to NON-GAAP Measures

(millions, except per share data) 2012 2011

Diluted Earnings per Share
GAAP net income from continuing operations attributable to Unisys Corporation common shareholders $ 129.4 $ 120.5

Debt reduction charges, net of tax 30.6 85.2
Pension expense, net of tax 105.4 28.0
Brazil non-income tax case, net of tax – 8.9

Non-GAAP net income from continuing operations attributable to Unisys Corporation common shareholders 265.4 242.6

Add preferred stock dividends 16.2 13.5

Non-GAAP net income from continuing operations attributable to Unisys Corporation for diluted earnings per share $ 281.6 $ 256.1

Weighted average shares (thousands) 43,864 43,145

Plus incremental shares from assumed conversion of employee stock plans and preferred stock 7,352 6,333

GAAP adjusted weighted average shares 51,216 49,478

Earnings per Share

GAAP basis
GAAP net income from continuing operations attributable to Unisys Corporation for diluted earnings per share $ 145.6 $ 134.0

Divided by adjusted weighted average shares 51,216 49,478

GAAP net income per diluted share from continuing operations $ 2.84 $ 2.71

Non-GAAP basis
Non-GAAP net income from continuing operations attributable to Unisys Corporation for diluted earnings per share $ 281.6 $ 256.1

Divided by adjusted weighted average shares 51,216 49,478

Non-GAAP net income per diluted share from continuing operations $ 5.50 $ 5.18

The company reports its results in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) in the United States.

However, in an effort to provide investors with additional perspective regarding the company’s results as determined by

GAAP, the company also discusses non-GAAP information which management believes provides useful information to

investors. Management uses supplemental non-GAAP financial measures internally to understand, manage and evaluate our

business and assess operational alternatives. These non-GAAP measures may include constant currency and non-GAAP

diluted earnings per share.

Our non-GAAP measures are not intended to be considered in isolation or as substitutes for results determined in

accordance with GAAP and should be read only in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements prepared in

accordance with GAAP.

Constant currency – The company refers to growth rates at constant currency or adjusting for currency so that the business

results can be viewed without the impact of fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates to facilitate comparisons of the

company’s business performance from one period to another. Constant currency for revenue is calculated by retranslating

current and prior period results at a consistent rate. This approach is based on the pricing currency for each country which is

typically the functional currency. Generally, when the dollar either strengthens or weakens against other currencies, the

growth at constant currency rates will be higher or lower, respectively, than growth reported at actual exchange rates.

Non-GAAP diluted earnings per share – For the full years of 2012 and 2011, the company recorded debt reduction charges

of $30.6 million and $85.2 million, respectively, and pension expense of $105.4 million and $28.0 million, respectively. In

addition, for full year 2011 the company incurred a charge of $8.9 million related to a Brazil non-income tax case. In an

effort to provide investors with a perspective on the company’s earnings without these charges, they are excluded from the

non-GAAP diluted earnings per share calculations.
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Stock Performance Graph
The following graph compares the yearly percentage change in the cumulative total stockholder return on Unisys common

stock during the five fiscal years ended December 31, 2012, with the cumulative total return on the Standard & Poor’s 500

Stock Index and the Standard & Poor’s 500 IT Services Index. The comparison assumes $100 was invested on December

31, 2007, in Unisys common stock and in each of such indices and assumes reinvestment of any dividends.
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Investor Information
Stock Information
• Common Stock: The company has the authority to issue 100 million shares of common stock, par value $.01 per share. At

December 31, 2012, there were approximately 44.0 million shares outstanding and about 17,000 stockholders of record.
Unisys common stock is listed for trading on the New York Stock Exchange (trading symbol “UIS”) and the London Stock
Exchange (code “USY”).

• Preferred Stock: The company has the authority to issue 40 million shares of preferred stock, par value $1 per share,
issuable in series. At December 31, 2012, there were approximately 2.6 million shares of 6.25% mandatory convertible
preferred stock, series A, outstanding. The preferred stock is listed for trading on the New York Stock Exchange (trading
symbol “UIS PR A”).

• Voting Rights: Each share of Unisys common stock outstanding on the record date for the annual meeting is entitled to
one vote on each matter to be voted upon at the meeting.

Annual Meeting
Stockholders are invited to attend the Unisys 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which will be held at the Philadelphia
Marriott West, 111 Crawford Avenue, West Conshohocken, Pennsylvania, on May 2, 2013, at 9:30 a.m. Formal notice of the
meeting, along with the proxy statement and proxy materials, was mailed or otherwise made available on or about March 21,
2013, to stockholders of record as of March 4, 2013.

Independent Auditors
KPMG LLP Philadelphia, Pennsylvania

Stockholder Services
Computershare Shareowner Services LLC is the company’s stock transfer agent and registrar.

Note: Effective October 23, 2009, Unisys declared a one-for-ten reverse split of its common stock. Pre-split stock certificates
must be submitted for exchange into post-split shares. If you are holding pre-split stock certificates, please contact
Computershare.

Administrative inquiries relating to stockholder records, lost stock certificates, change of ownership or change of address
should be directed to: Unisys Corporation, c/o Computershare, P.O. Box 43006, Providence, RI 02940

Account Access & Share Selling Program: www.computershare.com/investor

Telephone within the U.S. and Canada:

• Telephone toll free: 866-405-6564

• TDD for hearing impaired: 800-231-5469

Telephone outside the U.S.:

• Telephone: 201-680-6578

• TDD for hearing impaired: 201-680-6610

Investor Relations
• Web Site: The Unisys Investor Web site at www.unisys.com/investor provides news and events as well as quarterly

earnings releases and financial data, Unisys stock price and tools, officer and board biographies, corporate governance
materials, annual reports and more. We invite you to visit www.unisys.com/investor to learn more about Unisys.

• E-mail: Unisys provides investor-related news releases, SEC filings, webcast and event details, and daily/weekly stock
information via e-mail. To sign up for e-mail or to amend your current investor e-mail selection, visit www.unisys.com/
investor.

• Printed Materials: Visit www.unisys.com/investor to select from the current list of printed materials offered. Printed
materials also may be requested by calling 215-986-5777.

• General Investor Inquiries and Correspondence: Investors with general questions about the company are invited to contact
Unisys Investor Relations by calling 215-986-6999, e-mailing us at investor@unisys.com, or writing to us at: Investor
Relations, Unisys Corporation, 801 Lakeview Drive STE 100, Blue Bell, PA 19422.

For more information, visit www.unisys.com/investor.

63



Statements made by Unisys in this annual report that are not historical facts, including those regarding future
performance, are forward-looking statements under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These
statements are based on current expectations and assumptions and involve risks and uncertainties that could cause
actual results to differ from expectations. These risks and uncertainties are discussed in the Management’s Discussion
and Analysis section under “Factors that may affect future results.”
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Unisys, the Unisys logo and ClearPath are registered trademarks of Unisys Corporation. All other marks referenced in this annual report are acknowledged to be trademarks or
registered trademarks of their respective holders.

Printed in the United States of America 3/13 13-0042



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Gray Gamma 2.2)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Warning
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.3
  /CompressObjects /Off
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages false
  /CreateJDFFile false
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /LeaveColorUnchanged
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams true
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize false
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo false
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings false
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile (Color Management Off)
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 150
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Average
  /ColorImageResolution 100
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.00000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 150
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Average
  /GrayImageResolution 100
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.00000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Average
  /MonoImageResolution 300
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.00000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile (None)
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /Description <<
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e55464e1a65876863768467e5770b548c62535370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc666e901a554652d965874ef6768467e5770b548c52175370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /FRA <>
    /ITA (Utilizzare queste impostazioni per creare documenti Adobe PDF adatti per visualizzare e stampare documenti aziendali in modo affidabile. I documenti PDF creati possono essere aperti con Acrobat e Adobe Reader 5.0 e versioni successive.)
    /JPN <>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020be44c988b2c8c2a40020bb38c11cb97c0020c548c815c801c73cb85c0020bcf4ace00020c778c1c4d558b2940020b3700020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken waarmee zakelijke documenten betrouwbaar kunnen worden weergegeven en afgedrukt. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /PTB <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /ENU (RRD Low Resolution \(Letter Page Size\))
  >>
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice


